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STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Board of Registration in
Medicine erred in interpreting 243 C.M.R.

§$ 2.07(11) (a) and 243 C.M.R. § 1.03(5) (a)1l0 by finding
that intent, knowledge, and reliance are irrelevant to
determining whether the regulations were violated.

2. Whether the Board of Registration in
Medicine’s determination that Dr. Welter wviolated 243
C.M.R. § 2.07(11) (a) and 243 C.M.R. § 1.03(5) (a)10 was
arbitrary and capricious.

3. Whether the Board of Registration in
Medicine’s decision to indefinitely suspend Dr. Ryan
J. Welter’s license to practice medicine was arbitrary
and capricious.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiff Ryan J. Welter, M.D. (“Dr. Welter”)
hereby petitions the Supreme Judicial Court to revise
or reverse the decision by the Board of Registration
in Medicine (the “Board”) in Adjudicatory Case Docket
No. 2019-029 to indefinitely suspend his license to
practice medicine. The Board initiated its
investigation into Dr. Welter as a result of
procedures involving three patients, Patient A and
Patient B, a married couple who both received hair
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restoration treatments at Dr. Welter’s office, and
Patient C. See RA Vol. III at RA000123-24. On May 30,
2019, the Board initiated a formal adjudicatory
proceeding against Dr. Welter by issuing a Statement
of Allegations (“SOA”) and referring the matter to the
Division of Administrative Law Appeals (“DALA”) for a
hearing. Id. at RA000118-19. Following the issuance of
the SOA Dr. Welter entered into a Voluntary Agreement
Not to Practice (“WANP”) pending the final resolution
of this case. AR Vol. IV at RA000022-23.

The Board, in adopting the findings of an
Administrative Magistrate at the Division of
Administrative Law Appeals (“DALA”), found that the
evidence presented at the hearing in this case did not
support “the Board’s most serious allegation against
Dr. Welter”, i.e., that he “.. inappropriately
delegated medical services to [an unlicensed
individual]..and permitted aided and abetted an
unlicensed person to perform activities that require a
license.” RA Vol. III at RA000155, RA000159, RA0O001l60,
RA000164, RA000168. In addition, the Board decided
that, contrary to the charges brought by the Statement
of Allegations (“SOA”), Dr. Welter did not commit

fraud in renewing his medical license in 2013, 2015 or



2017; and that he did not create or maintain false or
fraudulent medical records. Id. at RA000165, RA000167-
68. Importantly, the Board had also separately charged
Dr. Welter under 243 C.M.R. §1.03(5) (a) (18) which
prohibits “misconduct in the practice of medicine” and
it did not find that he violated that provision. See
id. at RA000118, RA000168.

Incredibly, despite finding that the core of the
charges against him were unsubstantiated, the Board
illogically imposed one of the harshest available
sanctions and indefinitely suspended Dr. Welter’s
license to practice medicine. It did so contrary to
both logic and the Board’s own precedent. The Board
has never before imposed such a harsh sanction where a
doctor only violated the two regulations Dr. Welter
allegedly violated.

The suspension should be reversed for a number of
reasons. First, it unreasonably interferes with Dr.
Welter’s right to practice medicine in violation of
substantive due process because removing his license,
for an unintentional violation that does not implicate
his moral character or competence, has no rational
relationship to the protection of the public health.

Additionally, the Board’s interpretation of these



regulations was unreasonable and contrary to their
plain meaning. Further, even if the Board did
correctly interpret the regulations, the determination
that Dr. Welter violated them was arbitrary and
capricious and unsupported by the evidence. Finally,
the Board’s decision should be reversed because the
imposition of such a severe sanction where it failed
to prove its most serious charges against Dr. Welter
was arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion.

FACTS

A. Doctor Ryan J. Welter’s Training and Practice

After earning a Ph.D. in biochemistry and
molecular biology at Oklahoma State University, an
M.D. degree at the University of Oklahoma and a
residency at Brown University, Dr. Ryan Welter became
licensed to practice medicine in Massachusetts in
2000. RA Vol. III at RA000120; RA Vol. II at RA000476-
77. In the ensuing nineteen years, Dr. Welter pursued
two practice specialties without blemish. RA Vol III
at 1588. Initially, his practice concentrated on family
medicine, which was the focus of his residency
training and the area of his ABMS Board certification.
Beginning in Taunton - and then later in Raynham and

in North Attleboro - Dr. Welter’s family practice



ranged from delivering babies to urgent care, without
generating a single credible complaint. RA Vol. ITI,
RAQ00476-77. In the mid 2000’'s Dr. Welter began to
pursue a second specialty - hair restoration - which
allowed him to combine elements of his
scientific/doctoral training with the clinical
practice of medicine. Id. at RA000499-502.

B. Clark Tan

Around 2011, Dr. Welter was approached by Clark
Tan, who inquired about opportunities to work at Dr.
Welter’s hair restoration practice in Attleboro. AR
Vol. IIT at 1593; RA Vol. II at RA0O00503. Tan had
just moved to the area from New York, where he had
worked for several years with a renowned specialist in
the hair restoration field. RA Vol. III at RA000125;
RA Vol. II at RAO00503, RA0O00505. Tan had earned an
M.D. degree and was trained and licensed as a
physician in the Philippines but, because his
residency training was done abroad, he was not
eligible for licensure in the United States. RA Vol.
ITI at RA000125. As a result, his work was limited to
clinically assisting the New York physician and
performing informational consults regarding hair

restoration. Id.; RA Vol. II at RAQ00502-07. Dr.



Welter confirmed Tan’s training, experience, and
references, including speaking directly with the
doctor in New York. RA Vol. II at RA000506-07.
Critically, Dr. Welter also sought to determine the
scope of permissible activities that Tan could perform
in Massachusetts. To that end, he consulted with the
Physician Practice Resource Center of the
Massachusetts Medical Society (“MMS”) which directed
his attention to what was referenced as the
“delegation law” i.e., the Board’s own regulation at
243 CMR 2.07(4). RA Vol. IITI at RA000125-26; RA Vol IT
at RA000507-10. At all times relevant to this case

that requlation read, in pertinent part:

A full licensee may permit a skilled professional
or non-professional assistant to perform services
in a manner consistent with accepted medical
standards and appropriate to the assistant’s
skill. The full licensee is responsible for the
medical services delegated to a skilled
professional or non-professional assistant.
Nothing in 243 CMR 2.07(4) shall be construed as
permitting an unauthorized person to perform
activities requiring a license to practice
medicine..

243 CMR 2.07(4) (emphasis added).
Following his consultation with the MMS about the
delegation of services to assistants, and based on his

vetting of Tan’s references and credentials, Dr.
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Welter brought Tan into his practice to assist in
performing those hair restoration services in which
Tan was skilled and, over the ensuing six years Tan
assisted Dr. Welter in virtually every hair
restoration procedure performed in the office,
including Patient A’s and B’s. RA Vol. III at
RA000126-27; RA Vol. II at RA000229, RA000511-13,
RAQ00737-88. Notably, however, it was Dr. Welter and
Dr. Welter alone who performed Patient A’s
medical/physical examination and evaluation which is a
necessary predicate to a woman undergoing a hair
restoration procedure. RA Vol. III at RA000127,
RA000156-57; RA Vol. II at RA000244-45; RA000515-16.
During that same time frame, Tan was identified on the
office’s website and within the office as “Dr. Tan”
and/or as “Clark Tan, M.D.” RA Vol. III at RA000121-

22; RA Vol. II at RA000229, RA000512, RAOO00731.

C. The Board’s Allegations

On May 30, 2019, the Board initiated a formal
adjudicatory proceeding against Dr. Welter by issuing
a Statement of Allegations (“SOA”) and referring the
matter to the Division of Administrative Law Appeals
("“DALA”) for a hearing. RA Vol. I at RA000039. The

gravamen of the SOA was that Dr. Welter had improperly
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delegated medical services to Clark Tan during
procedures on three different patients (Patients A, B,
and C). Id. at RA000027-36. The SOA also alleged that
Dr. Welter had engaged in conduct that had the
capacity to deceive or defraud in the practice of
medicine by engaging in false advertising, by omitting
information or providing false information on his
license renewal applications, by allowing Tan to
present himself as a licensed physician when he was
not, and by creating and maintaining false medical
records. Id. at RA000034-35.

The Board specifically alleged that Dr. Welter’s
website for his business, New England Center for Hair
Restoration (New England Hair), misrepresented his
area of certification. Id. at RA000028. It further
alleged that the website falsely implied that Clark
Tan was a licensed physician, and that Dr. Welter
permitted Tan to present himself as a physician at New
England Hair. Id. at RA000028-33.

The Board alleged that Dr. Welter created and
maintained false medical records and that he
fraudulently renewed his license by omitting
information or providing false information on his

applications. Id. at RA000034.
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Finally, the Board charged Dr. Welter with
violating 243 C.M.R. § 1.03(5) (a) (18) which prohibits
“misconduct in the practice of medicine.” Id. at
RAQ00035.

D. Findings of the Magistrate

A hearing was held in front of Administrative
Magistrate Kristin M. Palace at DALA on December 9-11,
2019 and January 28, 2020. During the hearing, 30
exhibits were admitted. RA Vol. III at RA000119-20.
Patients A and B, Jacqueline DesJardins Pennie, Carol
Purmort, and Susan Dye testified for the Board. Id.
Dr. Welter, Chanelle Sae-Eaw, Jenny Moore, and Father
David Costa testified on behalf of Dr. Welter. Id.
Patient C did not testify. Id. The parties submitted
post-hearing briefs following the hearing, and the
Magistrate issued her findings of fact and rulings of
law on October 20, 2020. Id.

Critically, the Magistrate found that the Board
failed to prove its “most serious allegation” against
Dr. Welter, that he improperly delegated work to Tan
in violation of 243 C.M.R. § 2.07(4). Id. at RA000155-
64. She further found that the Board failed to

successfully prove its allegations that Dr. Welter had

violated 243 C.M.R. § 2.07(13) (a) by creating or

13



maintaining false medical records for Patients A or B,
or that Dr. Welter committed fraud in connection with
his license renewal applications. Id. at RA000164-67.

The Magistrate did find that Dr. Welter violated
243 C.M.R. § 2.07(11) (a), which prohibits advertising
that is false, misleading, or deceptive, by making
certain statements on his website. Id. at RA000150-54.
She found that the website implied that Tan was a
doctor when he was not licensed to practice medicine
in the United States, that the website repeatedly made
references to “doctors” plural when Dr. Welter was the
only licensed doctor at the practice, and that the
website’s description of Tan implied he was a licensed
doctor. Id.

She also found that the website stated that “As
founder and chief surgeon of The New England Center
for Hair Restoration, Dr. Welter is board certified,
trained and licensed to perform hair restoration
procedures for men and women.” Id. at RA000153.
However, Dr. Welter’s board certification is in family
medicine, not in surgery or plastic surgery. Id.

Additionally, she found that Dr. Welter violated
Section 1.03(5) (a)10, which permits the Board to

AN

discipline physicians for “[plracticing medicine
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deceitfully, or engaging in conduct which has the
capacity to deceive or defraud.” Id. at RA000154-55.
She found that Dr. Welter violated this provision by
facilitating the impression that Clark Tan was a
licensed physician because Dr. Welter knew that Tan
would introduce himself to patients as and was
referred to by Dr. Welter and others as “Dr. Tan”
verbally, on patient consent forms, and on his
business cards. Id.

Importantly, despite these violations, the
Magistrate made several findings which she categorized
as “Mitigating Factors” at the end of her decision.
Id. at RA000168-69. She found that as soon as Dr.
Welter learned of the Board’s concerns about his
advertising - and long before the SOA issued in this
case — he immediately implemented remedial measures
and revised his website to remove any references to
Tan being a doctor, as well as any references to the
practice being staffed by “doctors” in the plural. Id.
at RA000168. Moreover, when he became aware that the
Board disagreed with his interpretation of the
delegation regulation- and before the SOA was issued -

Dr. Welter also immediately terminated all of Tan’s

direct contact with patients, thereby “eliminat[ing]
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the possibility that patients would be misled by the
practice that Tan was an associate licensed
physician.” Id. at RA000169. Further, she noted Dr.
Welter’s heretofore unblemished twenty-year career and
his reputation for honesty and integrity. Id.

Importantly, elsewhere in her decision, the
Magistrate also specifically concluded that “..the
weight of the evidence is that Dr. Welter did not
intend to deceive the Board..” Id. at RA000167.

E. The Board’s Decision and Sanctions

As a result of her findings, the Magistrate
recommended that the Board, after considering these
mitigating factors, impose discipline against Dr.
Welter for false advertising and for practicing
medicine in a fashion that had the capacity to mislead
his patients regarding Tan’s licensure status. RA Vol.
IV at RA000169. The Board adopted the Magistrate’s
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 28,
2021. Id. at RAQ00256.

The parties subsequently submitted memoranda on
disposition concerning the sanction the Board would
impose on Dr. Welter, and the Board issued its Final
Decision and Order on March 11, 2021. Id. RA000329-32.

Despite having adopted a recommendation that dismissed

16



the most serious charges against Dr. Welter; found a
number of mitigating factors; and determined that he
did not have an intent to deceive the Board; the Board
indefinitely suspended Dr. Welter’s license.

F. Procedural History

On April 4, 2021, Dr. Welter filed a petition
with the Single Justice Session to review the Board’s
decision. RA Vol. V at RA002100. The parties submitted
briefs, and the Single Justice referred the matter to
the full court. Id. at RA002282.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

A decision by the Board of Registration in
Medicine to deny a doctor's reinstatement to his or
her profession is reviewable through a petition for

certiorari under G. L. c. 249 §4. Hoffer v. Board of

Registration in Med., 461 Mass. 451, 458 (2012).

Certiorari is a “limited procedure reserved for
correction of substantial errors of law apparent on
the record created before a judicial or quasi-judicial

tribunal.” Indeck v. Clients' Sec. Bd., 450 Mass. 379,

385 (2008), quoting School Comm. of Hudson v. Board of

Educ., 448 Mass. 565, 575-576 (2007).

17



“[T]he proper standard of review under the
certiorari statute is flexible and case specific, but

the disposition must ultimately turn on whether
the agency's decision was arbitrary and capricious,
unsupported by substantial evidence, or otherwise an
error of law.” Hoffer, 461 Mass. at 458 n.9. Review
under G. L. c. 249 §4 is meant to correct "substantial
error of law" which has resulted in a "manifest

injustice" to a petitioner. See Murray v. Second

District Court of Eastern Middlesex, 389 Mass. 508,

511 (1983) (quoting Commissioners of Civil Serv. v.

Municipal Court of the City of Boston, 369 Mass. 84,

90 (1975)); see also State Board of Retirement wv.

Francis Woodward, 446 Mass. 698, 702 (2006).

This Court should “uphold the decision of the
licensing authority as long as the findings by the
authority are supported by substantial evidence in the

record considered as a whole.” Black Rose, Inc. v.

Boston, 433 Mass. 501, 503 n. 2 (2001), quoting from

1001 Plays, Inc. v. Mayor of Boston, 387 Mass. 879,

885 (1983). A finding will not stand if “the evidence
points to no felt or appreciable probability of the

conclusion or points to an overwhelming probability to
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the contrary.” Duggan v. Board of Registration in

Nursing, 456 Mass. 666, 674 (2010) (citation omitted).

B. The Board’s Indefinite Suspension of Dr.
Welter’s License for Violating 243 Code Mass.
Regs. § 2.07(11) (a) and § 1.03(5) (a) (10)
Without Considering Intent or Reliance Violated
the State and Federal Constitutions

The Board deprived Dr. Welter of substantive due
process by indefinitely suspending his license based
on the conclusion that he violated 243 Code Mass.
Regs. § 2.07(11) (a) and § 1.03(5) (a) (10) despite
having also found that he had no intent to deceive and
that no one relied on any misleading statements to
their detriment.

The right to practice medicine is a property
right that is “guaranteed by constitutional mandate

from unwarrantable interference.” Lawrence v. Board of

Registration in Medicine, 239 Mass. 424, 428 (1921).

See also Com. v. Finnigan, 326 Mass. 378, 379 (1950)

(“[Tlhe Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of
the United States and arts. 1 and 10 of the
Declaration of Rights in the Constitution of
Massachusetts..protect the right of individuals to
liberty and property and to engage in lawful
occupations.”). The government thus cannot interfere

with this right without any rational basis for doing

19



so. “The test of ‘the constitutional wvalidity of
restrictions upon the carrying on of otherwise lawful
occupations is whether the act [or regulation] has a
rational tendency to promote the safety, health,
morals, and general welfare of the public.’” Milligan

v. Bd. of Registration in Pharmacy, 348 Mass. 491,

498-99 (1965) (internal quotation marks and citations
omitted) .

Clearly, the primary objective of the regulations
of the Board is to protect the public health, and as a
general matter, therefore, “statutes..designed to
safeguard the admission of physicians to practilcle,

have been and are valid.” Fogland v. Bd. of

Registration in Med., 357 Mass. 624, 629 (1970).

However, the wvalidity of such laws has rested on the
notion that doctors “may be required to show
themselves possessed of technical skill to” treat
patients and of “[s]oundness of moral fiber to insure
the proper use of medical learning.” Lawrence, 239
Mass. at 429. To that end, this Court has stated that
the Board may revoke a physician’s license without
offending the constitution where a physician has
committed “deceit, malpractice or gross misconduct in

the practice of his profession.” Id. at 429.
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Here Dr. Welter has not engaged in any behavior
that has harmed any patients, demonstrated
incompetence, or shown that he has a poor moral
character. Nor has he engaged in “deceit” as
understood in any other legal context because he had
no intent to deceive and did not induce anyone to rely
on any deceptive statements.

Specifically, the Board found that as soon as Dr.
Welter learned that the Board believed his website to
be deceptive, he removed all references to Clark Tan.
RA Vol. III at RAO000153. With respect to the website’s
statements concerning Dr. Welter’s board
certification, the Board explicitly found that Dr.
Welter’s statement that he was “board certified” was
truthful. The Board found that all elements of the
sentence in which he stated that he was board
certified were true. Id.

Further, as for his actions concerning Tan,
the Board found that when Dr. Welter was informed of
the Board’s concerns in 2017 he promptly revamped, not
only his website, but also Dr. Tan’s duties; all with
the intent of “eliminat[ing] the possibility that

patients would be misled .. that Dr. Tan was an
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associate licensed physician.” Id. at RA000169
(emphasis added) .

Further, no patients were induced to rely on any
alleged deceit by Dr. Welter to their detriment as Tan
was qualified to perform the procedures he performed
and could have done so as a licensed physician or not.
Patient A even testified that had she known that Tan
was not a physician from the beginning, she would have
still gone through with and been comfortable with him
performing the procedure she underwent. Id. at
RAQ00137.

Suspending Dr. Welter’s license for these actions

— which the Board found were not undertaken with the

intent to defraud or deceive and did not harm anyone -
in no way promotes or protects the public health and
is not rationally related to that end. The Board has,
therefore, unlawfully placed an unreasonable and
unnecessary restriction upon Dr. Welter’s pursuit of

his chosen occupation. See Com. v. S.S. Kresge Co.,

267 Mass. 145, 151 (1929) (YA State cannot, ‘under the
guise of protecting the public, arbitrarily interfere
with private business or prohibit lawful occupations
or impose unreasonable and unnecessary restrictions

upon them.’””).

22



The application of these regulations to Dr.
Welter in the manner in which the Board has
interpreted them improperly interferes with his
substantive due process right to practice medicine and
should be deemed unconstitutional.

C. The Board’s Interpretation of its Regulations

Concerning Deceit as not Requiring

Consideration of Intent or Reliance 1is
Incorrect and Not Entitled to Deference

The Board’s interpretation of the regulations at
issue as not requiring any proof of intent, knowledge,
or reliance, is, not only constitutionally
problematic, but is also clear legal error. While some
deference is given to an agency’s interpretation of
its regulations, such deference is not absolute. See

DeCosmo v. Blue Tarp Redevelopment, LLC, 487 Mass.

690, 698-704 (2021). In deciding whether deference is
due to the Board’s interpretation of the regulations
at issue, the Court must consider: “whether (1) the
regulatory language is plain or ambiguous; (2) the
agency's interpretation is reasonable; (3) the
interpretation is the agency's official or
authoritative position; (4) the interpretation draws

on the agency's technical and substantive

23



expertise; and (5) the agency's interpretation is
based on fair and considered judgment.” Id. at 699.
Here, the terms used in the regulations like
“deceit” and “defraud” are plain and unambiguous and
thus the Court need not defer to the Board’s contrary

understanding. See Massachusetts Fine Wines & Spirits,

LLC v. Alcoholic Beverages Control Comm'n, 482 Mass.

683, 687 (2019) (“First, we look to the text of the
regulation, and will apply the clear meaning of
unambiguous words unless doing so would lead to an

absurd result”); Goldberg v. Board of Health of

Granby, 444 Mass. 627, 636 (2005),

citing Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576, 588

(2000) (deference to agency interpretation not

appropriate where meaning of regulation unambiguous) .
Massachusetts law is unequivocal in other

contexts that to commit fraud or deceit, a person must

act with knowledge and intent. See Reisman v. KPMG

Peat Marwick LLP, 57 Mass. App. Ct. 100, 108 (2003),

quoting Int’l. Totalizing Sys. v. PepsiCo, Inc., 29

Mass. App. Ct 424, 431 (1990); Von Schonau-Riedweg v.

Rothschild Bank, 95 Mass. App. Ct. 471, 497 (2019);

Bern Unlimited Inc. v. Burton Corp., 25 F. Supp. 3%

170 (D. Mass. 2019); Restatement (Second) of Torts §
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525 (1977). In any case of fraud or deceit, under
state or federal statutes or at common law, the case
law is unambiguous that knowledge or intent to deceive
is a cornerstone requirement of any such offense. A
party must induce some kind of reliance on an
intentionally false statement and cause someone harm
as a result. These requirements are thus incorporated
into the unambiguous terms used in the regulations at
issue.

Even if the regulations were determined to be
ambiguous, the Board’s interpretation is not
reasonable given the traditional and well-known

conceptions of fraud and deceit. See Franklin Office

Park Realty Corp. v. Commissioner of the Dep't of

Envtl. Protection, 466 Mass. 454, 460 (2013) (court

grants “substantial deference” to “agency's particular
expertise” unless “unreasonable” [citations omitted]).
Moreover, the Board’s interpretation of these legal

terms is not based on any of its specialized medical-

related expertise. See DeCosmo, 487 Mass. at 702

(“"I]ln evaluating whether deference is appropriate, we
have also considered it important that an
interpretation be based in some way on this expertise

or specialized knowledge.”). Thus, this Court is free
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to impose its own interpretation on these terms
without deferring to what the Board thinks deceit
entails.

In short, Dr. Welter’s clearly unintentional,
benign conduct is not sufficient to constitute
“deceit” under any traditional understanding of the
concept in Massachusetts law. There is no reason to
depart from the traditional notions of fraud and
deceit in this context, and the Court should interpret
these regulations as incorporating the ordinary
elements of these claims.

D. The Board’s Determination that Dr. Welter

Violated these Regulations was Arbitrary and
Capricious

Even if the Board were correct that the
regulations at issue do not require a finding of
intent or knowledge, the Board’s determination that
Dr. Welter violated them was still arbitrary,
capricious, and contrary to the evidence.

The Board erroneously found that Dr. Welter’s
website deceived patients into thinking that Dr. Tan
was a Massachusetts licensed surgeon. The evidence
simply did not support this conclusion. Only an
unnaturally narrow and fragmented reading of certain

excerpts from NE Hair’s old website could lead a
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reader to the conclusion that it was misleading. When
the website is reviewed as a whole, there is nothing
deceptive about it. The website clearly only features
Dr. Welter as “Our Hair Restoration Surgeon.” AR Vol.
I at RAOO00O415-16. It then labels Dr. Tan separately
as “Our Hair Restoration Consultant” and correctly
states where he received his training. Id. at
RAOOQ0416-17.

Further, Dr. Welter testified that he used the
words “doctors” and “surgeons” in the plural because
he expected that his practice would grow to include
additional providers. AR Vol. II at RA000594-95.
Indeed, his office was designed to have more than one
procedure room for that very purpose. Id. The
Magistrate credited this testimony and explicitly
found that she “d[id] believe that Dr. Welter had
aspirations to build a larger business..” RA Vol. III
at RA000152. Moreover, it was not inaccurate to
describe Dr. Tan, who was medically trained in the
Philippines, with the “Dr.” prefix. In fact, the Board
itself referred to Dr. Tan in that manner throughout

the Statement of Allegations without caveat.
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As for the website’s statement that Dr. Welter
was “board certified,” that statement, importantly,
was true. Id.

In short, the overwhelming weight of the evidence
indicates that Dr. Welter’'s website and actions were
not misleading or deceitful, and the Board’s
determination that they violated the regulations was,
therefore, arbitrary and capricious and should be
overturned.

E. The Harsh Sanction of Indefinite Suspension of

Dr. Welter’s License was Arbitrary and
Capricious

Even if the Board correctly determined that Dr.
Welter violated the regulations at issue, the sanction
imposed was unquestionably far too harsh where the
Board failed to prove the gravamen of its complaint,
no patients were harmed by Dr. Welter’s conduct, and
he acted at all times in good faith and cooperatively
with the Board. Critically, the Board charged Dr.
Welter with violating more serious regulations,
including improperly delegating medical work to Tan
and misconduct in the practice of medicine, but it did

not prove those allegations. All it found here was

that Dr. Welter’s website was misleading and his

conduct concerning Tan was misleading.
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The Board’s decision to indefinitely suspend Dr.
Welter’s license based solely on these less serious
violations was wholly improper for a number of
reasons. The Board failed to take into account its own
precedent. This sanction was out of line with both
cases where less severe sanctions were imposed and
cases where indefinite suspensions have been issued.
Further, the Board failed to properly consider the
strong mitigating factors in Dr. Welter’s favor.

1. The Board Has Traditionally Imposed Reprimands

For Behavior on Par with- or Worse Than- the
Violations at Issue Here

Imposition of anything harsher than a reprimand
in these circumstances is completely contrary to any
of the Board’s precedent. In determining the
appropriate sanction in this case, the Board should
have looked to prior cases imposing sanctions for
violations of the sole disciplinary standard at issue
in this case; i.e., 243 CMR 1.03(5) (a)10 (engaging in
conduct that has the capacity to deceive or defraud).

In such cases, while the Board has at times
imposed a range of sanctions - either, on the one
hand, because of other compounding violations or
specific aggravating circumstances; or, on the other

hand, because of mitigating circumstances - the
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Board’s long-standing precedent is to sanction such
violations by a Reprimand, often accompanied by a
fine, targeted continuing medical education courses,

or community service. In the Matter of Boris Bergus,

M.D., Adjudicatory Case No. 2018-004 (Final Decision

and Order, June 27, 2019) (general discussion
regarding the Board’s approach to violations of this

disciplinary standard). See also, In the Matter of

Henry J. Ramini. Adjudicatory Case No. 88-23-SU

(Final Decision and Order, March 1, 1989) (Reprimand
and $10,000 fine based on testimonial perjury
regarding credentials, the submission of false
credentialing applications, fabrication of data in a
published article and altering medical records to

support the false data); In the Matter of Martin Bak,

M.D., Adjudicatory Case No0.90-1-ST (Final Decision and

Order, May 2, 1990) (Reprimand and $5000 fine based on
research misconduct, data fabrication and failure to
report to the Board the resulting hospital

disciplinary action); In the Matter of Evan Dreyer,

M.D., Adjudicatory Case No. 02-07-XX (Consent Order,

February 13, 2002) (Reprimand and $5000 fine based on
research misconduct and data fabrication); In the

Matter of Robert Shepard, M.D., Adjudicatory Case No.
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03-11-XX (Consent Order, April 16, 2006) (Reprimand
and Community Service for taking checks from his
group practice and depositing them into a personal

investment account); In the Matter of Sunil Prassad,

Adjudicatory Case No. 2006-18 (Consent Order, April

16, 2006) (Reprimand and $5000 fine for altering
patient medical records to conceal his administration
of an overdose of narcotic medication, causing the
patient to suffer respiratory failure, and then making
misrepresentations concerning the event to a medical

peer review committee); In the Matter of Guillermo

Asis, M.D., Adjudicatory Case No. 2006-065 (Consent

Order, December 20, 2006) (Reprimand and $5000 fine
for committing insurance fraud that included billing

Blue Cross Blue Shield for services not reflected in

the medical record and double billing patients). Dr.
Welter’s conduct is qualitatively less serious - and
demonstrably less deliberate — than any of the above

referenced reprimand cases.
Perhaps the most instructive of the Board’s
reprimand cases - for present purposes - is In the

Matter of George Reynolds, M.D., Adjudicatory Case No.

89-11-ST (Final Decision and Order, August 16, 1989).

In that case, the respondent-physician employed an
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unlicensed foreign medical school graduate, who then
functioned in that physician’s clinic as a fully
licensed physician for almost two years. Moreover,
the physician was also found to have committed fraud
in his license renewal by failing to disclose the
existence of three malpractice suits, including one
which was brought by the family of a patient who had
been treated by the unlicensed physician and
subsequently died. Dr. Reynolds received a Reprimand
and separate fines of $2500; one for engaging in
conduct that has the capacity to deceive, and the
other for the fraudulent procurement of his license
renewal. Most, i1f not all of the instances where the
Board has implemented a sanction harsher than a
reprimand alone include multiple violations that also
implicate additional disciplinary standards.

2. Imposition of an Indefinite Suspension is
Unprecedented Absent a More Serious Violation

The Board has seemingly never imposed a sanction
of indefinite suspension absent more serious conduct
than that found here. Outside of cases based on
incompetence in the practice of medicine, which was
not charged here, this level of discipline is

traditionally reserved for extreme misconduct such as
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violating boundaries with patients or engaging in

physical violence. See, e.g., In the Matter of

O’ Connor, Adjudicatory Case No. 2020-009, (Final

Decision and Order, Oct. 21, 2021) (failure to report
on renewal application arrest for OUI; failure to
properly document reasons for prescriptions;
trespassing in patient’s home; making harassing phone

call to patient’s home); In the Matter of Pfannl,

Adjudicatory Case No. 2017-043, (Final Order and

Decision Nov. 19, 2020) (sexually harassing resident;
failing to report investigations on license renewal
application; failing to respond to Board); In the

Matter of Dahod, Adjudicatory Case No. 2016-040 (Final

Decision and Order, Oct. 11, 2018) (inappropriate
patient contacts during endoscopic procedures; failure

to maintain boundaries with patients); In the Matter

of Reder, Adjudicatory Case No. 2016-028 (Final Order

and Decision, June 14, 2018) (issuance of
prescriptions to 12 patients outside usual course of
medical practice; prescribing Schedule II controlled
substances in violation of board regulations; failure
to maintain appropriate medical records; engaging in
boundary violations with patients; issuing

prescriptions without documenting rationale;
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prescribing medication for Respondent’s dog); In the

Matter of Benoit, Adjudicatory Case No. 2016-019 (Apr.

27, 2017) (commission of negligence on multiple
occasions, calling into gquestion competence to

practice medicine); In the Matter of Kohn,

Adjudicatory Case No. 2015-011 (Final Order and

Decision, Dec. 22, 2016) (physically abusing patient,
including dragging her across room and pushing her
head onto table while standing behind her; shortly
thereafter grabbing nurse by arm and moving her out of

room); In the Matter of Mulhern, Adjudicatory Case

Nos. 2005-007, 2005-046 (Final Order and Decision,

Sept. 5, 2007) (pattern of professional misconduct,
including verbal confrontations, throwing sandbag in
anger resulting in injury to co-worker’s foot,
threatening to punch another physician, yelling, and
use of profanity). Nothing anywhere close to that
level of misconduct was proven here.

Critically, in each of these and the other
indefinite suspension cases based on a physician’s
behavior, rather than quality of care, the Board found
a violation of 243 C.M.R. 1.03(5) (a) (18), and here Dr.
Welter was absolved of that charge. The Board did not

find that he engaged in misconduct in the practice of
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medicine, unlike in any other similar indefinite
suspension case. Without finding that Dr. Welter
violated 243 C.M.R. 1.03(5) (a) (18), the Board
unquestionably abused its discretion in ordering such
a harsh sanction solely on the basis of Dr. Welter’s
relatively minor other infractions.

3. The Board Failed to Consider Mitigating Factors

Moreover, in determining the appropriate
sanction, the Board also erroneously failed to
consider Dr. Welter’s good faith and prompt responses
to the concerns raised by the Board in the course of
its investigation of this case. 1Indeed, under the
heading explicitly entitled “Mitigating Factors” the
Decision includes findings that were expressly made
for that purpose.

Specifically, the Board acknowledged that in
determining the appropriate sanction in this case it
must take note of the fact that as soon as Dr. Welter
learned of the Board’s concerns about his advertising
— and long before the SOA issued in this case - he
immediately implemented remedial measures and revised
his website to remove any references to Tan being a
doctor, as well as any references to the practice

being staffed by “doctors” in the plural. RA Vol. III
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at RA000168. Moreover — and despite the fact that the
MMS had by then reconfirmed to Dr. Welter what has now
been shown to be his lawful authority to delegate
certain services to Tan - Dr. Welter also immediately
terminated all of Tan’s direct contact with patients.
Id. Of course, in considering Dr. Welter’s consistent
good faith dealings with the Board, it necessarily
should also have taken into account the language by
which it rejected the meritless allegations of
license renewal fraud: “..the weight of the evidence is
that Dr. Welter did not intend to deceive the Board..”
Id. at RA000167 (emphasis added). Finally, in this
regard, the Board also failed to appropriately
consider the other two mitigating factors which are
enumerated in the Decision; i.e., Dr. Welter’s
heretofore unblemished twenty-year career, and his
reputation for honesty and integrity. Id. at RA000169.
In contrast to what it did here, when the Board
finds a violation of 243 CMR 1.03(5) (a)l1l0 but also
finds mitigating factors, it has traditionally imposed

a lesser sanction than a Reprimand. See In the Matter

of Michael Pearlman M.D., Adjudicatory Case No. 91-8-

DALA (Final Decision and Order, September 9, 1992)

(the Board imposed an Admonishment and 60 hours of
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community service after the Dr. Pearlman had admitted
to sufficient facts in a criminal health care fraud
case, which was continued without a finding and then
dismissed. Mitigation was found by virtue of his
admission, his acceptance of responsibility, and the
esteem in which he was held by colleagues); In the

Matter of Thomas Mikolinnas, M.D., Adjudicatory Case

No. 96-11-XX (Consent Order, September 27, 1995)

(physician admitted to sufficient facts to criminal
charges of paying for sex, which were then continued
without a finding and dismissed. Physician thereafter
failed to disclose those criminal charges in his
license renewal application to the Board. Based on
the foregoing and in apparent recognition of his
acceptance of responsibility the Board imposed a
censure and a $2500 fine).

Notably, in both the Pearlman and Mikolinnas

cases - as well as many of the reprimand cases cited
above - the respondent physician was also found to
have engaged in “misconduct” in violation of 243 CMR
1.03(5) (a)18. While the Board initially alleged it, a

violation of that regulation was not made in this

case.
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In consideration of all of the foregoing, Dr.
Welter should have been subjected, at most, to an
Admonishment. Given the facts of this case compared
with the Board’s clear precedent, the imposition of an
indefinite suspension was unquestionably arbitrary and

capricious and must be reversed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should:
(a) Review the Final Decision by the Board;
(b) Reverse or revise the Indefinite Suspension
of Dr. Welter’s license; and
(c) Provide such additional and further relief
as the Court deems appropriate.
Respectfully submitted,
Plaintiff Ryan J. Welter,
By his attorneys,
/s/Paul Cirel
Paul Cirel (BBO #084320)
Alycia M. Kennedy (BBO #688801)
Todd & Weld LLP
One Federal Street
Boston, MA 02110
617-720-2626

pcirel@toddweld.com
akennedy@toddweld.com

Dated: July 20, 2021
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

Middlesex, ss. Division of Administrative Law Appeals

Board of Registration in Medicine,
Petitioner

V. Docket No. RM-19-0282

Ryan J. Welter, M.D.,
Respondent

Appearance for the Petitioner:

Lisa Fuccione, Esq.

Board of Registration in Medicine
200 Harvard Mill Square, Ste 330
Wakefield, MA 01880

Appearance for the Respondent:

Paul Cirel, Esq.

Ingrid Martin, Esq.

Todd & Weld LLP

One Federal Street, 27" floor
Boston, MA 02110

Administrative Magistrate:

Kristin M. Palace, Esq.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDED DECISION

The Board alleged that Respondent engaged in conduct in the practice of medicine that had the
capacity to deceive or defraud by engaging in false advertising, fraudulently renewing his
license, enabling an unlicensed associate to present himself as a licensed physician, and creating
and maintaining false medical records. The Board also alleged that Respondent improperly
delegated medical services to an unlicensed graduate of a foreign medical school. Following a
hearing, the Board sustained its burden of proving that Respondent engaged in false advertising
on his website and deceived his patients by enabling his associate to present himself as a licensed
physician. The Board did not sustain its burden of proving that Respondent improperly delegated
medical services to his associate, fraudulently renewed his license, or created and maintained
false medical records.
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RECOMMENDED DECISION

On May 30, 2019, the Board of Registration in Medicine (Board) issued a Statement of
Allegations concerning Ryan J. Welter, M.D. (Respondent). The Statement alleged that Dr.
Welter had engaged in conduct that had the capacity to deceive or defraud in the practice of
medicine by engaging in false advertising, by omitting information or providing false
information on his license renewal applications, by allowing an associate to present himself as a
licensed physician when he was not, and by creating and maintaining false medical records. The
Board also alleged that Dr. Welter improperly delegated medical services to his associate, an
unlicensed graduate of a foreign medical school. Specifically, the Board alleged that Dr. Welter’s
website for his business, New England Center for Hair Restoration (New England Hair),
misrepresented the area of Dr. Welter’s board certification and falsely implied that his unlicensed
associate, Clark Tan, was a licensed physician; that Dr. Welter reinforced that impression by
permitting Clark Tan to present himself as a physician at New England Hair; that Dr. Welter
improperly delegated medical services to Clark Tan during procedures on three patients (Patients
A, B, and C); that Dr. Welter created and maintained false medical records, and that Dr. Welter
fraudulently renewed his license by omitting information or providing false information on his
renewal applications. The Board does not allege that Dr. Welter violated any standard of care in
the treatment of his patients, The Board seeks to discipline Dr. Welter for violations of 243 Code
Mass. Regs. §§ 1.03(5)(a)3, 1.03(5)(a)6, 1.03(5)(a)10, 1.03(5)(a)11, 1.03(5)(a)18, 2.07(11)(a),
and 2.07(13)(a), and for lacking good moral character and engaging in conduct that has the
capacity to undermine public confidence in the integrity of the medical profession, See Levy v.

Board of Registration in Medicine, 378 Mass. 519 (1979).
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The Board referred the matter to the Division of Administrative Law Appeals (DALA)
for a hearing on the allegations. Dr. Welter filed an answer to the Board’s Statement of
Allegations. On Au.gust 16,2019, I held a prehearing conference at DALA’s offices at 14
Summer Street, Malden, Massachusetts. At the conference, the Board moved to compel Dr.
Welter to supplement his answer to the Statement of Allegations. Dr. Welter moved for a more
definite statement of the Board’s allegations concerning Dr. Welter’s website. | granted both
motions. The Board provided a more definite statement on August 29, 2019. Dr. Welter filed his
supplemental answer to the original Statement of Allegations on August 30, 2019, and filed a
further answer to the Board’s more definite statement on September 13, 2019.

On October 15, 2019, the Board moved for partial summary decision on three of the 59
allegations in its Statement of Allegations that concerned Dr. Welter’s license renewal
applications. I denied that motion on November 7, 2019 because the Board failed to show that it
was undisputed that the Respondent knowingly made false statements.

On November 16, 2019, the parties filed a joint prehearing conference memorandum that
included a stipulation of facts, 23 agreed-to exhibits and seven disputed exhibits. I marked this
document Pleading A. I held a hearing at the DALA’s offices on December 9 - 11, 2019 and
January 28, 2020. The hearing was transcribed by a stenographer. At the hearing, I admitted the
23 agreed-to exhibits, two of the disputed exhibits, and five additional exhibits that were offered
during the hearing for a total of 30 exhibits (H-1 to H-30). Under an Order of Impoundment from
the Board, three potential witnesses were identified by pseudonyms as Patients A, B, and C. The
Board presented the testimony of Patient A and Patient B (both former patients of Dr. Welter),
Jacqueline DesJardins Pennie (a physician assistant formerly employed by Dr. Welter), Carol

Purmort (the Acting Director of the Board’s Licensing Division), and Susan Dye (an Investigator
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for the Board). Patient C did not testify. Dr. Welter testified on his own behalf and presented
testimony from Chanelle Saec-Eaw (the office manager for Dr. Welter’s North Attleboro medical
practice), Jenny Moore {a medical assistant formerly employed by Dr. Welter at New England
Hair, now a traveling hair technician), and Father David Costa (a priest formerly of Dr. Welter’s
church). The parties waived closing statements in favor of submitting post-hearing briefs which
were filed on June 23, 2020. I marked the Board’s post-hearing brief Pleading B, and Dr.
Welter’s post-hearing brief Pleading C. The transcript for the final day of hearing was filed on
August 4, 2020 and the record closed at that time.

Findings of Fact

Based on the pleadings, the testimonial and documentary evidence and reasonable
inferences drawn therefrom, and my assessment of the credibility of the witnesses, I make the
following findings of fact.

L. Background
1. Ryan J. Welter graduated from the University Of Oklahoma College Of Medicine in

1999, He was initially licensed to practice medicine in Massachusetts in 2000. He is

certified by the American Board of Family Medicine. (Pleading A Stipulated Facts.)

2. Dr. Welter founded and managed several medical corporations including Tristan Medical

Enterprises, P.C., which also does business as New England Center for Hair Restoration

(New England Hair), and Regeneris Medical. Dr. Welter’s practice encompasses primary

care as well as hair restoration. (Pleading A Stipulated Facts.)

3. Prior to this current proceeding, Dr. Welter has never been disciplined by any hospital,

academic institution, or licensing board. (Welter testimony.)
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. From January 2015 through November 1, 2017, Dr. Welter employed various assistants

at New England Hair as well as Clark Tan, also known as Clark Tanner. Clark Tan
attended medical school in the Philippines but is not licensed to practice medicine in the
United States. Dr. Welter hired Dr. Gurmander Kohli, a licensed physician and board-
certified plastic surgeon, to work at Regeneris Medical in July 2015. (Pleading A
Stipulated Facts.)

Website Advertising

. Dr. Welter maintained a website for New England Hair. The website was initially set up

by an outside consultant based on information that Dr. Welter provided. The website’s
blog was periodically updated. Dr. Welter reviewed and approvéd the content of the

website before it was published. (Pleading A Stipulated Facts, Welter testimony.)

. Between January 2015 and November 1, 2017, New England Hair’s website contained

statements indicating that multiple doctors and surgeons worked at New England Hair.
Under the heading What Sets Us Apart, the website stated that “our surgeons™ had been
solving hair loss problems for years, that medical professionals referred to “Dr. Ryan
Welter and Dr. Clark Tan as ‘doctors’ doctors,”” and that NE Hair’s “doctors” could
correct other surgeons’ work. Throughout the website, Dr. Welter and Dr. Clark were
repeatedly referred to in tandem, as in the following statements: “Dr. Ryan Welter and
Dr. Clark Tan have gained recognition in the field of hair restoration for their surgical
skills...” and “Dr. Welter and Dr. Tan believe that all of their patients deserve to look and
feel their best...” and “Dr. Ryan Welter and Dr. Clark Tan have an eye for detail and
esthetics that is evident in their outstanding results in many satisfied patients.”(Pleading

A Stipulated Facts, Exhibit H-8, Welter testimony.)
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7. Dr. Welter was the only licensed physician who worked at New England Hair between
January 2015 and November 1, 2017. New England Hair did not employ multiple
physicians and/or surgeons. (Pleading A Stipulated Facts, Welter testimony.)

8. Tan’s biography as Clark Tan, M.D. was listed on the website under the heading Our
Hair Restoration Consultant. The biography stated: “Dr. Tan received his medical degree
from Far Eastern University Institute of Medicine. He is a diplomat in both General
Surgery and Aesthetic Cancer Surgery at East Avenue Medical Center with a sub-
specialty in Aesthetic Plastic Surgery at Makati Medical Center.... Dr. Tan has been
doing hair restoration for more than 14 years in New York and is a staff member of the
New England Center for Hair Restoration.” The website did not reveal that the East
Avenue Medical Center and the Makati Medical Center are not in the United States, that
Tan had not done a residency in the United States and was thus not eligible to be licensed
to practice medicine in the United States, or that Tan was not a physician licensed to
practice anywhere in the United States. (Pleading A. Stipulated Facts, Exhibit H-8, Welter
Testimony.)

9. Dr. Welter’s biography on the website was found under the heading Our Hair Restoration
Surgeon and stated “As founder and chief surgeon of The New England Center for Hair
Restoration, Dr. Welter is board certified, trained and licensed to perform hair restoration
procedures for men and women.” Dr. Welter was board certified in family medicine. He
was not at any relevant time and is not now board certified in surgery or plastic surgery.
The website did not disclose that Dr. Welter’s board certification was in family medicine.

(Pleading A Stipulated Facts, Welter testimony, Exhibit H-8.)
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10. Patient A is a licensed physician. She chose New England Hair because the location of
the practice was convenient, she liked the patient reviews and the pictures on the website,
she wanted to have her procedure done by a physician, and she believed that the
physicians at New England Hair were board certified. (Patient A testimony.)

11. Patient A had not heard of Tan until she received an email from the office that Dr. Tan
would be doing her procedure. She looked on the website and saw that Tan was listed
and concluded that Tan was a licensed physician, on the same level as Dr. Welter or
supervised by him. (Patient A testimony.)

12. Patient B is a licensed physician. He chose New England Hair based on its affiliations,
the training of the personnel, and the recommendation of Patient A. Patient B is married
to Patient A. (Patient B testimony.)

13. Patient B believed that Dr. Welter and Tan were the physicians referred to by New
England Hair’s website. (Patient B testimony.)

I11. Representations made in the conduct of New England Hair’s practice

14. The staff in New England Hair’s office was aware that Clark Tan was a doctor who had
gone to medical school in the Philippines but was not licensed to practice in
Massachusetts. (Sac-Eaw Testimony, Pennie testimony, Moore testimony.)

15. Dr. Welter did not direct the staff to tell patients anything about Tan’s training or
licensure status. (Sae-Eaw testimony.)

16. Clark Tan introduced himself to staff and patients as Dr. Tan. (Sac-Eaw testimony.)

17. The staff in the office referred to Tan as Dr. Tan. (Patient A testimony, Sae-Eaw

testimony, Moore testimony.)
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

Dr. Welter also referred to Tan as Dr. Tan. Dr. Welter testified that he did so because Tan
was a medical school graduate. (Welter testimony.)

During the course of Tan’s employment, Dr, Welter allowed Tan to disseminate business
cards to patients and prospective patients that read Clark Tan, M.D. without an
explanation that Tan was not licensed to practice medicine in the United States. (Pleading
A Stipulated Facts, Exhibit H-7, Welter testimony.)

At his consult with Tan, Patient B picked up Tan’s business card. Patient B assumed
from the card’s notation Clark Tan, M.D. that Tan was a licensed physician and one of
the surgeons at the practice. (Patient B testimony.)

Patient A, Patient B, and Patient C all signed New England Hair’s consent forms for their

hair procedures. The consent forms were drafted or approved by Dr. Welter. All forms

included the following language: I, , do hereby authorize Dr. Ryan
Welter, his associate doctors and/or such assistants as may be selected by him to perform
[selected procedure] on me. (Exhibit H-1, Exhibit H-3, Exhibit H-5, Testimony of
Patient A, Testimony of Patient B, Testimony of Welter.)

At the time of Patient A’s, Patient B’s, and Patient C’s treatments, Dr. Welter had no
associate doctors who were licensed to practice medicine on staff at New England Hair.
(Welter testimony.)

The consent form signed by Patient B stated that measurements of hair density “were
taken by a doctor.” (Exhibit H-3.)

Tan sent Patient B an email when Patient B was considering treating with New England

Hair that included this statement: Consultation is done by a doctor and not by a
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V.

25.

26

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

salesperson as what typically happens in other centers. The email was signed Clark Tan,
M.D. (Exhibit H-4.)
Patient B assumed from the emails, the business card, and the consent form that Tan was

a licensed physician. (Patient B testimony.)

. Patient A assumed from the website, emails, and the conduct of the practice that Tan was

a licensed physician. (Patient A testimony.)

Delegation of services to Clark Tan
In 2011, Clark Tan contacted Dr. Welter to inquire about employment. (Welter
testimony.)
Tan had worked for many years in New York for Dr. Unger, a well-known hair
restoration surgeon. Tan had recently moved to Rhode Island and was looking for work.
{Welter testimony.)
Tan told Dr. Welter that he was from the Philippines and had received his medical
training there. Dr. Welter asked Tan if he had done a medical residency in the United
States. Tan replied that he had not and Dr. Welter understood that Tan was thus not
eligible to be licensed to practice medicine in the United States. (Welter testimony.)
Dr. Welter called Dr. Unger to speak with him about Tan’s work. Dr. Welter also
obtained Tan’s certificates of all of his university training. After speaking with Dr.
Unger, Dr. Welter was interested in hiring Tan. (Welter testimony.)
Dr. Welter called the Massachusetts Medical Society (MMS) to find out if he would be
able to hire Tan as a foreign medical graduate even though Tan was not licensed to
practice medicine in Massachusetts. He spoke with someone who told him that there was

a rule that governed delegation. (Welter testimony.)
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32.

33.

34,

35.

36.

37

Dr. Welter obtained the delegation regulation and reviewed its language. He consulted
with an attorney recommended by the MMS about the regulation. Dr. Welter concluded
that the regulation allowed him to delegate work to a non-licensee as long as that person
had the proper skills. Dr. Welter concluded that Tan had the proper skill set to assist in
hair restoration work. Dr, Welter hired Tan as a non-professional assistant in 2011.
(Welter testimony.) |

Dr. Welter delegated initial consultations to Tan. At these consults, Tan would meet with
prospective patients, hear their concerns, explain to them what treatment options were
available, discuss pricing, and take photos. If indicated by the patient’s interest in a
particular procedure, Tan would analyze the density of the areas where hair could be
taken from (the donor area) and where hair would be placed (the recipient area). (Welter
testimony.)

New England Hair did not charge for initial consultations. Many of the people who seek
hair consults are comparison shopping for services. Prospective patients who came for
consultations at New England Hair often did not return for treatment, (Sac-Eaw
testimony, Welter te.stimony.)

In some hair restoration practices, consultations are handled by a salesperson who is not
medically trained. (Welter testimony, Moore testimony.)

Tan would pass his consultation notes for each prospective patient on to Dr, Welter for
review. If Dr. Welter agreed with Tan’s assessment, he would sign off on the note. Ifhe
did not, Dr. Welter would discuss the case with Tan. (Welter testimony.)

New England Hair handled consultations with female patients differently from

consultations with male patients because hair loss in females can be caused by many
10
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38.

39.

40.

41

different underlying medical conditions. Male pattern hair loss, on the other hand, is
readily recognizable. Female patients at New England Hair were medically evaluated by
Dr. Welter or by a physician assistant to rule out medical issues. Tan did not do these
evaluations. (Welter testimony.)

Hair procedures were always scheduled for times when Dr. Welter was physically present
at New England Hair’s offices. (Sae-Eaw testimony.)

At the time that Patient A and Patient B came to New England Hair for their procedures,
Tan had been working for Dr. Welter for about four years and they had performed many
procedures together. {(Exhibit H-1, Exhibit H-3, Welter testimony.)

Patient A is female. She consulted with Dr. Welter on March 11, 2015 because she was
concerned with her thinning hair. During the consultation, Dr. Welter evaluated Patient
A for underlying medical issues. He conducted a brief physical examination. Dr. Welter
and Patient A discussed the various treatment options, including drug treatment options.
Dr. Welter judged that Patient A was a good candidate for medication treatment and he
reviewed with her the use of minoxidil (a/k/a Rogaine} — an over-the-counter topical
solution — and finasteride, a prescription medicine that is available in both topical and

oral form. (Exhibit H-1, Patient A testimony, Welter testimony.)

. At that time, Patient A was not interested in drug treatment options. Patient A wanted to

schedule a treatment procedure called Platelet Rich Plasma, or PRP. Accordingly, Dr.
Welter reviewed the PRP procedure and the consent form used for that procedure with
Patient A. Dr. Welter pre-authorized a prescription for finasteride for Patient A and told
her that if she changed her mind she could call the office and they would authorize a

prescription for her. (Patient A testimony, Welter testimony. )

11
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43,

44,

45.

46,

417.

Patient A decided to have the lab work required for the PRP hair procedure drawn at the
same time as upcoming annual blood tests she had previously scheduled at her primary
care physician’s office. She intended to think over her treatment options while the lab
work was pending, but she had more or less decided to go ahead with the PRP by the
time she left Dr. Welter’s office. Dr. Welter ordered the lab work to be done at the same
time as the tests that Patient A’s PCP was ordering. (Exhibit H-1, Patient A testimony,
Welter testimony.)

PRP involves drawing blood from the patient, spinning the blood in a centrifuge to
separate the red blood cells from the platelets which are located in the plasma, numbing
the recipient areas on the patient’s scalp either topically or by injection, and finally
injecting the platelet solution into the scalp at a very shallow depth. (Welter testimony.)
Dr. Welter’s office, like many medical offices, uses medical assistants td draw blood and
give injections. (Welter testimony.)

Dr, Welter determined that all of the components of the PRP procedure were within
Tan’s skill set. Dr. Welter delegated some, but not all, PRP procedures to Tan. (Welter
testimony.) |

Tan performed the PRP procedure on Patient A on June 15, 2015 with the help of Jackie
DesJardins. Patient A’s medical record reflects that the PRP blood draw was done by
physician assistant Jackie DesJardins and Tan, and that DesJardins entered the PRP
patient encounter note into Athena, the medical records software used by Dr. Weltet’s
office. (Exhibit H-1, Welter testimony, Patient A testimony.)

Each staff person at Dr. Weltet’s office has her own credentials to enable her to log in to

the Athena Medical Records system. Users must log in to enter encounter notes. Security
12
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48,

49,

50.

51.

procedures in effect at Dr. Welter’s office forbid sharing of user names and passwords
and require cach user to log out of their computer when they leave their station. (Sac-Eaw
testimony.)

As a physician assistant, Ms. Pennie is qualified to supervise medical assistants who, in
turn, are permitted to draw blood and administer injections. (Pennie testimony.)

Dr. Welter was not presem:, in any significant way for Patient A’s PRP procedure
although he was in the office that day. Patient A’s PRP operative record reflects that Tan
performed each step of the procedure with Ms. Pennie assisting in the blood draw. Dr.
Welter signed the bottom of the operative record as the surgeon. Tan signed the form as
the “first assist.” (Exhibit H-1, Welter testimony.)

Patient A signed a consent form for the PRP procedure on the day of her PRP procedure.
She reviewed it that day with Tan. She did not go over the paperwork at that time with
Dr. Welter although he reviewed it with her at her March consult. (Patient A testimony,
Welter testimony.)

Dr. Welter also signed Patient A’s consent form on the day of her procedure and attested
to the fact that he had “explained and disclosed all relevant information” on the form to
Patient A. Dr. Welter felt comfortable signing the form because he had reviewed the
consent form and the procedure with Patient A in March. He considered the fact that
Patient A was a physician herself, that the PRP procedure involved only a blood draw and
shallow injections of topical anesthetic and plasma, and that he had discussed PRP
extensively with Patient A at her consult. Under the circumstances, he felt no further
review was necessary. Dr. Welter did not speak with Patient A before her procedure

started. (Welter testimony.)
13
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53,

54,

55.

After the PRP procedure was over, Patient A told Tan that she was interested in a
prescription for finasteride. Dr. Welter’s staff passed the message that Patient A now
wanted the prescription to Dr. Welter. Dr. Welter authorized the prescription in the
Athena system; the prescriptions were in Dr. Welter’s name. Tan did not authorize a
prescription for finasteride for Patient A. Tan did not have the ability to authorize
prescriptions in Athena. (Welter testimony, Sae-Eaw testimony.)

Patient A developed a rash about ten days after starting the finasteride. Patient A sought
care at an urgent care clinic for her rash, she did not seek care at New England Hair. She
stopped taking the drug and the reaction subsided. She later telephoned Dr. Welter’s
office and spoke with Tan to report the reaction. No further action was needed as the
allergic reaction had resolved. (Exhibit H-1, Welter testimony, Patient A testimony.)
Patient A had three follow-up appointments with Tan in September 2015, February 2016,
and May 2016. The consult notes reflect that at those appointments Tan and Patient A
discussed the results of the PRP and discussed products that she was using for her hair
growth. At the second of these appointments, Tan noted that Patient A would try the
finasteride again. At the third appointment, Tan noted that Patient A claimed to have a
reaction to finasteride when she was exposed to sunlight. Dr. Welter reviewed the notes
of each of these appointments and signed off on them. (Exhibit H-1, Welter testimony.)
Dr. Welter’s practice was to either review Tan’s notes or to discuss a patient with Tan. If
there were any concerns, the office would schedule the patient for a medical follow up. If
there were no concerns, Dr. Welter would sign the notes and the notes would be filed in

the patient’s chart. (Welter testimony.)
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57.

58.

59.

60.

Patient A was satisfied with her PRP procedure. She thought Tan was responsive,

knowledgeable, and easy to talk to. She recommended Dr. Welter’s practice to her

“husband, Patient B. (Patient A testimony.)

Patient B is male. Patient B was unhappy with the sparseness of his beard on his face and
neck. (Exhibit H-3, Patient B testimony).

Patient B had an initial consultation with Tan on December 11, 2015, The consultation
took place in Tan’s office. Tan reviewed treatment options, assessed the density of
Patient B’s beard during the consult, took photographs, and drew diagrams. He reviewed
Patient B’s medical history with him. (Patient B testimony.)

In his consult notes, Tan wrote that Patient B’s beard had always been sparsé and that it
had not changed over the years. Dr. Welter understood this note to mean that Patient B’s
sparse beard was not symptomatic of an underlying medical condition. He concluded
from this that Patient B did not need an additional medical evaluation appointment. Tan
indicated that Patient B was interested in full beard surgery, including his neck. Tan
noted that there were no other health issues. Dr. Welter reviewed the note, wrote “agree”
on it, and signed it. (Exhibit H-3, Weltef testimony.)

Patient B was interested in undergoing Follicular Unit Extraction (FUE) surgery. FUE is
a process in which hair follicles from a densely-growing donor area (often the back of the
head) are removed and transplanted to a sparser recipient area. Hair follicles on the scalp
can sprout multiple hairs, but beard follicles contain one hair each. In order to transplant
hair follicles from the scalp to the beard, each follicle from the scalp must be removed,
examined under a microscope, separated into single hairs in a manner that retains the

correct amount of tissue, and re-implanted in the donor area. FUE can involve thousands
15

1599



61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

of grafts. The process generally takes 8 to 10 hours. Because of the amount of time and
work involved, Dr. Welter used a team of people to complete FUE procedures. (Welter
testimony, Moore testimony.)

During an FUE at New England Hair, the donor follicles are removed from the patient,
placed on ice in a petri dish, and taken to a different room where they are examined under
a microscope and split. Each donor follicle is examined separately. (Exhibit H-27, Welter
testimony, Sae-Eaw testimony, Moore testimony.)

The split grafts are then placed in a special solution and returned to the room where the
patient is waiting for implantation. (Exhibit H-27, Welter testimony.)

FUE procedures were staffed by Dr. Welter, Tan, and usually two medical assistants.
Occasionally, only one medical assistant would be available, resulting in a longer day for
everyone. (Sae-Eaw testimony, Moore testimony.)

During Patient B’s consult, Tan discussed with Patient B the number of grafts that Patient
B was going to need in order to achieve his desired result. The number of grafis needed
determines the amount of work to be done and thus the price of the procedure. After the
consult Tan made specific calculations based on his assessment of Patient B’s hair
density. (Exhibit I1-3, Patient B testimony, Welter testimony.)

Dr. Welter reviewed Tan’s notes and calculations and signed off on them. (Weller
testimony.)

Tan concluded that Patient B would need about 1,200 grafts to achieve the desired
results, Patient B questioned Tan’s calculation because doctors he had spoken with had

placed the number at 2,000 or more. Tan told Patient B that he believed that 1,200 would
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67.

68.

69.

70.

be adequate. Despite his decision to go ahead, Patient B continued to harbor doubts about
the number. (Patient B testimony.)

Patient B did not have any appointments with a licensed physician between his
consultation with Tan and the FUE surgery. (Welter testimony.)

Dr. Welter met Patient B on March 7, 2016, the day of Patient B’s FUE procedure. Tan
went over the paperwork, including the consent form, with Patient B. While assistant
Zach Brock shaved the donor area on Patient B’s head, Dr, Welter reviewed the
procedure with Patient B and briefly assessed Patient B’s health. (Patient B testimony,
Welter testimony.)

Tan, Dr. Welter, and assistant Brock performed Patient B’s FUE procedure. Tan
administered most of the local anesthetic to Patient B. Dr. Welter assisted. Patient B was
positioned face down for a good portion of the procedure while hair follicles were being
extracted from the back of his head. As follicles were extracted, Dr, Welter and Brock
carried them in iced petri dishes to a separate room to work under microscopes dissecting
and cleaning the follicles for re-implantation. When all of the follicles were ready for re-
implantation, the team began the process of implanting the new hair into Patient B’s
beard. (Welter testimony, Patient B testimony.)

Dr. Welter participated in the entirety of Patient B’s FUE procedure. Although Patient B
recalled that Dr. Welter was present in the room with him for about two hours of the ten
hour procedure, Patient B was unable to see who was in the room for much of that time
because he was positioned face-down. Patient B was unaware that work to prepare the
grafis was proceeding at the same time in a different room. (Welter testimony, Patient B

testimony.)
17

1601



71.

72.

73.

74,

75.

76.

77.

During Patient B’s FUE procedure, Tan participated in administering topical anesthesia,
extracting Patient B’s hair follicles, and in re-implanting follicles in the donor area. Dr.
Welter judged that Tan had the expertise and skill to perform this work. (Welter
testimony.)

In Massachusetts, extraction and re-implantation of hair follicles is work that is typically
performed by medical assistants. (Welter testimony, Moore testimony.)

Tan gave Patient B post-procedure instructions and provided him with both Tan’s phone
number and Dr. Welter’s phone number in the event Patient B had a question or a
problem. (Patient B testimony.)

Patient B returned the next day for a follow-up appointment with Tan. Tan washed out
the scalp graft sites and looked over the facial grafts. Patient B never again returned to
New England Hair. (Patient B testimony.)

Dr. Welter’s office’s standard procedure in FUE cases was to schedule follow-up
appointments at three, six, and twelve months after the procedure. These appointments
are scheduled on the day of the FUE procedure. Their purpose is to assess the patient’s
progress and see if additional grafts are needed. The consent form for the FUE procedure
that Patient B signe'd specifies that multiple sessions may be necessary to achieve the
desired result, and that the number of grafts required may be more or less than the quoted
number. (Exhibit H-3, Patient B testimony, Welter testimony, Sae-Eaw testimony.)
Patient B was scheduled for follow-up appointments. (Welter testimony, Patient B
testimony.)

Patient B did not keep his three-month follow-up appointment in June 2016 because he

had to work. At that time, Patient B was concerned that he had not seen any results. He
18
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78.

79.

80.

81.

contacted Tan who told Patient B that his experience was not unusual and that he should
give it more time. (Patient B testimony.)

Patient B contacted Tan in early September 2016 because Patient B still had not seen any
progress in his beard growth. On September 9, 2016, Tan told Patient B that he would do
a revision for free if that was needed, but Patient B needed to come in for a follow-up
appointment so they could assess him. Patient B conceded that Tan’s desire to see his
transplant was reasonable, but Patient B did not go see him. (Exhibit H-4, Testimony of
Patient B.)

Patient B had misgivings about his FUE treatment. He continued to wonder if Tan had

done enough grafts, and he was dissatisfied with the hair growth in his beard. Patient B

attempted to look up Tan’s license on the Board’s website but was unable to find a listing
for Tan, On September 12, 2016, Patient B contacted Tan to ask about his licensure
status. (Patient B testimony, Exhibit H-4.)

On September 13, 2016, Dr. Welter responded to Patient B’s inquiry about Tan’s license
and explained that Tan was not a licensed physician, but was a surgeon trained in the
Philippines. Dr. Welter stated that Tan was authorized in Massachusetts to work as a
technician and consultant under Dr. Welter’s direct supervision. Patient B replied that he
believed it was improper that Tan had participated in his care. (Exhibit H-4.)

The exchange of emails that took place on that day culminated in Patient B demanding a
refund of the full amount that both he and Pati¢nt A had paid for their procedures. Dr.
Welter told Patient B that he was willing to consider a refund but asked Patient B to

return for a follow-up appointment so Dr. Welter could evaluate the results of the
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82.

83.

34.

procedure. Patient B never returned for a follow-up appointment. (Exhibit H-4, Welter
testimony, Patient B testimony.)

Dr. Welter was surprised by Patient B’s complaints. Dr. Welter called the Board to see if
his understanding of the delegation regulation was correct. He did not get an answer
from the Board. (Welter testimony.)

Dr. Welter next called the Massachusetts Medical Society (MMS) and spoke with Brett
Bauer on or about September 16, 2016. Mr. Bauer referred Dr. Welter to a division of the
MMS called the Physician Practice Resource Center (PPRC). Dr. Welter spoke with
David Wasserman of the PPRC. Based on his conversation with Mr. Wasserman, Dr.
Welter believed that his understanding of the regulation was correct and that he was
permitted to delegate tasks to Tan. Mr. Wasserman referred Dr. Welter to an attorney in
Connecticut whom Dr. Welter understood was an expert in delegation law. He spoke with
this attorney but does not remember her name. Based on that conversation, Dr. Welter
continued to believe that he had not violated the delegation regulation in his working
relationship with Tan. (Exhibit H-28, Welter testimony.)

Patient B was angry and believed he had been duped by Dr. Welter. Patient B no longer
trusted Dr. Welter or New England Hair and did not want to return for any additional
care. Patient B filed complaints with the Better Business Bureau and the Board shortly
after his September 13, 2016 email exchange with Dr. Welter. In his Board complaint,
Patient B told the Board that he wanted to get the money back that he and his wirfe

(Patient A) had paid for their procedures. (Patient B testimony.)
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86.

87.

On November 2, 2016, Dr. Welter received notification that Patient A had filed a
complaint against him with the Board’s Consumer Protection Unit.! In the complaint,
Patient A stated that she never would have consented to have her procedure done by an
unlicensed physician had she known. As a remedy, Patient A stated that she wanted a
refund for both her and her husband’s procedures. (Exhibit H-1, Exhibit H-9, Patient A
testimony.)

Like her husband, Patient A was upset when she learned that Tan was not a licensed
physician because she felt that his status bad been misrepresented to her. However, and
contrary to her Board complaint, Patient A testified that had she known from the
beginning that Tan was an unlicensed assistant, she would still have gone through with
the PRP and probably would have been comfortable with having Tan do the procedure.
(Patient A testimony.)

After Patient A and Patient B complained to the Better Business Bureau and the Board,
Pati¢nt B and Dr. Welter engaged in discussions about settling the outstanding
complaints. Dr. Welter stated that he was willing to refund the money that Patient A and
Patient B had paid in exchange for their withdrawing their complaints. Patient B was
successful in closing the complaint with the Better Business Bureau by informing it that
the dispute had been resolved. The complaint to the Board could not be withdrawn,
although Patient B informed the Board that he believed that he and Patient A had reached

a fair resolution with Dr. Welter. (Exhibit H-4, Patient B testimony.)

! From the record it is clear that Patient B also filed a complaint, but the parties did not include Patient B’s
complaint as an exhibit and no witness testified to the particulars of his complaint.
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89.

90.
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92.

On November 30, 2016, Dr. Welter replied to the Board’s inquiry about Tan. Dr. Welter
explained the tole that Tan played in his practice and stated that he believed that his
delegation of tasks to Tan was permitted by the delegation regulation, 243 Code Mass.
Regs. § 2.07(4), which he cited. He based his reply on information he had received
during his conversation with the attorney he had been referred to by the MMS. (Exhibit
H-10, Welter testimony.)

In 2017, the Board transferred the consumer complaint filed by Patients A and B to the
Board’s enforcement division. Dr. Welter heard nothing further from the Board until
March 2017 when he received a subpoena for Patient A’s records. He subsequently
learned that Inspector Susan Dye was assigned to the case. (Exhibit H-1, Welter
testimony, Dye testimony.)

In 2018, Dr. Welter refunded $12,500 to Patients A and B. This amount represented the
money they had paid to New England Hair for their procedures. Once Patient B received
the moriey, he considered the matter settled but was surprised to later learn from
Investigator Dye that the Board was still pursuing the case. He told Ms. Dye that he and
Patient A had no plans to pursue the matter further. (Patient B testimony.)

In the early fall of 2017, Dr. Welter called Coverys, his malpractice carrier, for advice on
what to do about the Board investigation. The company gave him a list of attorneys he
could contact. Dr. Welter hired an attorney to represent him. (Welter testimony.)
Through his Coverys-recommended attorney, Dr. Welter learned that the Board had
concerns about his website, in particular the reference to doctors in the plural and the
description of Tan. In the fall of 2017, Dr. Welter responded to the Board’s concerns by

eliminating from New England Hair’s website all references to Tan and by changing
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94.

95.

96.

Tan’s job so that Tan no longer had contact with patients. Thereafter, Tan no longer
conducted consults or assisted with procedures. Dr. Welter’s description of his own
qualifications on the website remained unchanged. (Exhibit H-23, Welter testimony. )

On October 12, 2017, Patient C consulted with Dr. Welter about Patient C’s hair loss.
Patient C had a noticeable scar on his abdomen. Dr. Welter and Patient C discussed the
scar, and Dr. Welter referred Patient C to Dr. Kohli for a consultation on a liposuction
contouring procedure (Vaser) to improve the appearance of his abdomen. Dr. Welter
texted Dr. Kohli’s address at Regeneris Medical to Patient C that same day. (Exhibit H-3,
Exhibit H-6, Welter testimony.)

Patient C ultimately elected to pursue two hair procedures and the liposuction contouring
procedure. (Exhibit H-5, Exhibit H-6, Welter testimony.)

On October 19, 2017, Patient C texted Dr. Welter about the cost of the hair procedure. In
that text, Patient C revealed that he worked at Dr. Welter’s malpractice carrier (Coverys).
Patient C did not handle Dr. Welter’s malpractice account, Nonetheless, he told Dr.
Welter that he had accessed Dr. Welter’s account and discovered that Dr. Welter would
be receiving a refund for a premium overpayment. (Exhibit H-6, Dye testimony.)

On November 1, 2017, Patient C underwent three different procedures with Dr. Welter
and Dr. Kohli at New England Hair’s offices. These included PRP, Stromal Vascular
Fraction (SVF) (a process by which progenitor fat cells are extracted from fatty tissue and
injected into the scalp), and Vaser Liposuction for abdomen contouring. Dr. Welter and
Dr. Kohli performed the SVF and Vaser procedures together, and Dr. Welter performed

the PRP with assistant Devin Fortier. Tan had no involvement in Patient C’s care, Tan’s
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98.

99.

role Was limited to setting up the room for the SVF and Vaser procedures and scribing the
PRP procedure. (Exhibit H-5; Welter testimony.)

On January 18, 2018, Patient C texted Dr. Welter and said that his hair was falling out.
He asked for a refund. In subsequent text messages, Patient C continued to press for a
refund but agreed to attend a follow-up appointment with Dr. Welter. (Exhibit H-6.)

On February 6, 2018, Patient C returned for a follow-up appointment with Dr, Welter.
Dr. Welter concluded that Patient C was experiencing shock loss. (Exhibit H-5, Welter
testimony.)

Shock loss occurs because hair follicles are disturbed in the hair restoration process, and
the follicles shed hair as a result of that disturbance. The hair loss is temporary because
the hair follicle retains its structure and the hair will grow back. In hair transplant
surgery, shock loss is typically at its worst at about three months after the procedure, and

the hair grows back after an additional three months. (Welter testimony.)

100. At the February 6, 2018 follow-up appointment, Dr. Welter reassured Patient C

that the shock loss was a temporary condition and that his hair would grow back in

another three months. (Exhibit H-5, Welter testimony.)

101. On February 21, 2018, Patient C texted Dr. Welter that he had been doing

research and discovered that there were complaints against New England Hair and Tan at
a local police department, the Attorney General’s office, and the Board. He wrote that
Tan had “[put] holes in my scalp.” Patient C mentioned that he had consulted malpractice
attorneys and that he had a case. He also stated that he also was friendly with individuals
at Channel 7 news who could “do investigations on this type of stuff” unless Dr. Welter

refunded his money. (Exhibit H-6.)
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102. At the time of Patient’s C’s February 21, 2018 text, there was a confidential
investigation pending at the Board. (Dye Testimony.)

103. Patient C contacted the Board claiming that he had had several procedures done at
New England Hair, and that one of these procedures was completed by Tan. (Dye
testimony.)

104. Investigator Dye interviewed Patient C by telephone on February 27, 2018. The
interview was brief. Patient C refused to attend an in-person interview. (Dye testimony.)

105. Patient C told Inspector Dye that an Indian doctor whom he had never met before
conducted most of the liposuction and was assisted in that procedure by Dr. Welter.
Patient C also stated that Tan had performed another procedure on him in a separate room
that involved transplanting hair. (Dye testimony.)

106. On March 7, 2018, Board counsel requested that Dr. Welter provide Patient C’s
medical record from Tristan Medical (d/b/a New England Hair) to the Board. Dr. Welter
did so on April 6, 2018. That medical record reflected that Patient C had undergone PRP,
SVF, and Vaser at New England Hair; contained Dr. Welter’s note that Patient C was
interested in Vaser Liposuction; and included results of lab tests that had been ordered by
Dr. Kohli at Regeneris Medical in Raynham. Later, but before the Statement of
Allegations issued, Dr. Welter provided to the Board Patient C’s records from Regeneris
Medical, Those records documented Patient C’s consult with Dr. Kohli at Regeneris prior
to the Vaser procedure at New England Hair. (Exhibit H-5, Exhibit H-12, Exhibit H-21,
Dye testimony, Welter testimony.) |

107. Patient C made statements to Inspector Dye that were inconsistent with the

medical records that the Board received. Patient C told Inspector Dye that he had never
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met Dr. Kohli before the procedure, but Kohli’s name was on lab tests ordered as seen in
Patient C’s New England Hair medical record, and the Regeneris records detail Patient
C’s initial consultation with Dr. Kohli. Patient C told Inspector Dye that Tan injected his
head, but the medical record reflects otherwise. Patient C told Inspector Dye that his hair
had fallen out and left her with the impression that the hair loss was permanent, but the
record reflected that the condition was temporary. Inspector Dye testified that she was
unaware that shock loss is a temporary condition. (Exhibit H-5, Exhibit H-21, Testimony
of Dye.)

108. The Board did not investigate how Patient C had come to know that an
investigation was pending at the Board or where he got the idea that an investigation was
pending at a local police department. Inspector Dye did not question Patient C about
whether it was appropriate for him to access Dr. Welter’s malpractice file at Coverys.
(Dye testimony.)

Medical Records

109. The operative record for Patient A’s PRP procedure lists Dr. Welter as the
surgeon, and Clark Tan as the first assist. Dr. Welter did not conduct Patient A’s PRP
procedure. Dr. Welter signed the record as the supervising surgeon. (Exhibit H-1, Welter
testimony.)

110. There are parts of Patient A’s and Patient B’s medical records that contain notes
that do not bear the signature of the writer. Some of these notes are undated. (Exhibit H-

1, Exhibit H-3.)
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111. The operative record for Patient B’s FUE procedure lists a surgical team
comprised of Dr. Welter as the surgeon, and Tan and Brock as assistants. All three are
identified as having prepared and transplanted the grafts. (Exhibit H-3.)

112. The medical records for Patient A and B reflect that Dr. Welter countersigned the
consent forms on the day of each procedure, attesting that he had “explained and
disclosed all relevant information as identified on this form.” Dr. Welter reviewed the
consent forms with Patient A several months prior to the procedure; Tan reviewed it with
her on the date of her procedure. Both Dr. Welter and Tan reviewed the procedure and
paperwork with Patient B on the date of his procedure. (Exhibit H-1, Exhibit H-3, Welter
testimony, Patient A testimony, Patient B testimony.)

VL. License Renewal Applications

113. After their initial licensure by the Board, physicians are required to file license
renewal applications every two years coincident with their birthdays. (Purmont
testimony.)

114. The renewal application can be completed on-line or on baper. There are separate
instructions for filling out the renewal applications which are available to physicians for
both on-line applications and paper applications. The instructions are not embedded in
the renewal forms. The Board also maintains a call center to assist physicians in propetly
filling out their applications. (Exhibit H-19, Exhibit H-25, Purmont testimony.)

115. Dr. Welter completed and submitted his renewal applications through the Board’s
on-line portal. {(Exhibit H-14, Exhibit H-16, Exhibit H-17.)

116. Physicians are required to fill out the application fully and truthfully, and to attest

under the pains and penalties of perjury that the information they have provided is true.

27

1611



On-line applications must be electronically signed before they can be submitted. (Exhibit
H-19, Exhibit H-25, Purmont testimony.)

117. The application asks physicians to list their Massachusetts work sites. The
application provides a drop-down menu of Massachusetts Hospitals. Physicians can also
add additional Massachusetts work sites. Answers from a previous application
prepopulate this field, (Exhibit H-19, Exhibit H-25, Purmont testimony.)

118. The separate application instructions state that a physician should list all work
sites in Massachusetts, including private offices and clinics. (Exhibit H-19.)

119. The application asks physicians if they perform surgery in their Massachusetts
office. If the physician checks the yes box, another screen appears which refers the
physician to the Massachusetts Medical Society Office Based Surgery Guidelines and the
instructions for completing the application form. A link to the Guidelines is provided in
the instructions. Physicians are then required to indicate on the application whether the
surgery they perform is classified as Level 1, II, or III. If a physician checks the no box
indicating that they do not perform surgery in his office, this additional screen does not
appear. (Exhibit H-19, Exhibit H-25, Purmont testimony.)

120. MMS’s Office Based Surgery Guidelines provide definitions for surgery, office-
based surgery, major surgety, and minor surgery. The Guidelines classify office based
surgety in three levels by level of complexity, ranging from Level III -- the most complex
and involving significant anesthesia or other pain-blocking techniques -- to Level 1,
which generally encompasses minor surgical procedures performed under topical or local

anesthesia. (Exhibit H-20, Purmont testimony.)

28

1612



121, The renewal application also asks physicians if they have been the subject of an

| investigation by any governmental authority, including the Board or any other state’s
medical board, or a health care facility, group practice, employer or professional
association. If a physician answers yes to this question, thley are required to submit an
explanation. (Exhibit H-19, Exhibit H-25, Purmont testimony.)

122, Some of the fields in the on-line application are prepopulated with information
supplied by physicians in their previous applications. Fields that are prepopulated include
addresses, specialties, board certifications, drug registration numbers, out-of-state
licenses, and previously-reported work sites. The questions regarding office-based
surgery and the existence of investigations are not pre-populated. (Purmont testimony.)

123. Physicians do sometimes make errors in filling out their applications. Any error
made prior to signing and submitting the application can be corrected easily. Once an
application has been signed and submitted, it cannot be amended on-line. (Purmont
testimony.)

124, When an application is completed and submitted on-line, the physician’s license
is automatically renewed overnight. (Purmont testimony.)

125. Sometimes physicians answer no to a question about whether there have been aﬁy
investigations of them when the answer should be yes. The Board has an automated
process for checking a physician’s answers against its database. (Purmont testimony. )

126. If a physician answers no to the question concerning investigations and the Board
is aware that there Was or is an investigation, the Board will contact the physician,
provide the information it has on hand, and ask the physician to correct the form. If the

complaint is current and outstanding, a paralegal at the Board checks with the Board’s
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enforcement division to see if the physician knows about the investigation and, if not,
nothing further is done with regard to the application at that time. If the enforcement
division indicates that the physician does know about the complaint, the licensing
paralegal contacts the physiciar. When the Board contacts the physician to request a
correction, the Board lists the open complaint, provides a copy of the licensing
application that the physician has already completed, and asks that the physician fill out a
Form R which asks for additional information regarding the claim. The physician would
then typically correct the license application, initial and date the changes, fill out the
Form R, and return all of the forms to the Board. (Exhibit H-14, Purmont testimony.)

127. On July 29, 2013, Dr. Welter submitted a license renewal application. He
incorrectly answered no to the question about investigations. A complaint against him
had been filed with the Board in 2012 but was unsubstantiated and closed. The complaint
was unrelated to Dr. Welter’s hair restoration practice. The Board sent Dr. Welter a letter
the next day, on July 30, 2013, asking him to correct his answer and fill out the Form R.
He complied. (Exhibit H-14, Exhibit H-15, Welter testimony.)

128. On July 18, 2017, Dr. Welter also answered “no” on his renewal application when
asked if he was the subject of an investigation, The answer to the question should have
been “yes.” The Board notified Dr. Welter about the complaint from Patient A in 2016,
and he had received a request for patient records that spring. The Board did not send Dr.
Welter a letter as it did in 2013 offering him the opportunity to correct his 2017
misstatement about complaints filed. (Exhibit H-1, Exhibit H-9, Exhibit H-17, Welter

testimony, Purmont testimony, Dye testimony.)
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129. Dr. Welter testified that he didn’t know why the Board would ask him for
information on an investigation that it already possessed, and pointed out that he could
not have been trying to hide the investigation from the Board because the Board was the
entity conducting the inquiry. He did acknowledge that the answer to the question about
investigations should have been yes, and stated that although he is sure he would have
reviewed the application before he signed it, he believes that it would be easy for him to
miss something and that is what he thought had happened. (Welter testimony.)

130. In his 2013 license renewal application, Dr. Welter listed Morton Hospital and
Medical Center -as his work site. Dr. Welter was also working at the time at another

‘ Tristan Medical office in Raynham. Dr. Welter listed the Raynham office as his business
address on the renewal application. Tristan Medical was headquartered at that time in

\ Raynham. (Exhibit H-14, Welter testimony.)

| 131, In his July 2015 license renewal application. Dr. Welter again listed Morton
Hospital and Medical Center as his work site although he was now working at two

additional Tristan Medical locations: Raynham and North Attleboro. Dr. Welter

continued to list the Raynham location as his business address. The 2015 renewal
application made no reference to North Attleboro. (Exhibit H-16, Welter testimony.)
132. In his July 2017 license renewal application, Dr. Welter again listed Morton
Hospital and Medical Center as his work site although he was also working at the North
Attleboro office of Tristan Medical. Dr. Welter changed his business address from
Raynham to North Attleboro because this was the new headquarters address. He was no

longer regularly working in the Raynham office. (Exhibit H-17, Welter testimony. )
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133. Despite not listing all of his work locations in the appropriate fields on his
renewal applications, Dr. Welter did not attempt to hide his work locations from the
Board. On his July 2013 renewal application, Dr. Welter listed his Raynham work
location as his business address. In September of 2013, Dr. Welter wrote to the Board to
offer to be a workplace monitor for a doctor in a probation agreement. Dr. Welter offered
the North Attleboro office as the location for this work and the letterhead address
reflected Dr. Welter’s Raynham office. On the next renewal application in 2015, Dr.
Welter left his answers about work locations unchanged from 2013, despite his letter to
the Board offering to monitor a physician at his North Attleboro office. In 2017, he
changed his business address to North Attleboro, which reflected the fact that he was
working in North Attleboro although he continued to list only Morton Hospital and
Medical Center as his work location. Dr. Welter testified that because the application
question regarding work sites had a drop down menu for hospitals but not for anything
else, he assumed that he was supposed to report his hospital affiliation worksites, He

stated that he did not intentionally disregard the separate application instructions which

clarified that the question was asking doctors to report all work locations. (Exhibit H-14,

Exhibit H-16, Exhibit I1-17, Exhibit H-19, Exhibit H-25, Exhibit H-26, Welter
testimony.)

134, In his 2013 license renewal application, Dr. Welter answered yes to the question
asking if he was performing in-office surgery. On the 2015 renewal application, Dr.
Welter changed his answer to that question to no. He also answered the office surgery

question no on his 2017 renewal application. (Exhibit H-14, Exhibit H-16, Exhibit H-17.)
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135. At the time of his 2015 and 2017 applications, Dr, Welter’s hair restoration
practice had changed considerably from his practice in 2013. Dr. Welter had moved
away from doing strip surgery which requires a scalpel, a long incision, and two layers of

| sutures to reattach the hair strip. Dr. Welter’s practice had largely transitioned to the FUE
procedure which entails shallow scoring of the scalp. Dr. Welter did not regard FUE as
surgery because it is so minimally invasive. Dr. Welter testified that the question on the
application asked if he was performing surgery, and he answered the question no because
he believed that the FUE procedure was not really surgical. Because he answered the
question no, no further screen appeared which referenced the MMS guidelines. Dr.
Welter distinguished between the definition of surgery, which he did not believe included
FUE, and the MMS definitions applicable to Levels I, II, and III office-based surgery
which focus on the level of anesthesia used in surgical procedures. He stated that he was
not trying to hide what he was doing from the Board. He conceded that at a 2019 hearing
before the Board, he analogized the FUE extraction procedure to a punch biopsy, but
explained that he was trying to explain the hair procedure in terms that the doctors on the
Board would understand. He did not agree that the two were equivalent. (Exhibit H-16,
Exhibit H-17, Exhibit H-20, Exhibit II-24, Welter testimony.)

VIL Reputation in the Community

136. Father David Costa, a Catholic priest, has known Dr. Welter for approximately 14
years. Father Costa was the director of the school that many of Dr. Welter’s children
attended. He also served as a priest at Dr. Welter’s parish. Dr. Welter was a regular
participant in the life of the church. He also was active as a parent volunteer at the school

through coaching sports, attending social activities, and helping with fundraising. Dr.
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Welter also participated in efforts to establish a foundation to serve the needs of people of
few means. Father Costa regards Dr. Welter as a truthful individual and believes that Dr.

Welter has a reputation in the church community for honesty. (Costa testimony.)

Discussion
In this proceeding the Board has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of evidence,
the allegations set forth in its Statement of Allegations. Craven v. State Ethics Committee, 390
Mass. 191, 454 N.E.2d 471 (1983). After a thorough review of all of the evidence in this case,
including an assessment of the credibility of all of the witnesses, I have concluded that the Board
has met its burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence its allegations with regard to
false advertising on New England Hair’s website and deceptive conduct of New England Hair’s
practice that enabled Tan to present himself as a licensed physician, but has not met its burden of
proving the allegations related to improper delegation of medical services to Tan, fraudulent
filing of license renewal applications, or creation and maintenance of false medical records.
L. Allegations of False Advertising on New England Hair’s Website
The Board charges that Dr. Welter made false and deceptive statements on New England
Hair’'s website in violation of 243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.07(11){(a). That regulation provides:
A full licensee engaged in the practice of medicine may advertise
for patients by means which are in the public interest. Advertising
that is not in the public interest includes the following:
1. Advertising that is false, deceptive, or misleading ...
The parties disagree over how this regulation should be interpreted. The Board urges that the
regulation is plain on its face, that a physician may not include in advertising statements that are

false, i.e. untrue; deceptive, i.e., tending to cause someone to accept as true what is false; or

misleading, i.e., leading in a wrong direction or into a mistaken action. Dr. Welter, on the other
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hand, argues that the test for evaluating whether a claim is false, deceptive, or misleading
requires more than an analysis of whether the claims are, indeed, false, deceptive, or misleading.
He argues that case law requires the consideration of other elements, namely an analysis of
whether he acted with knowledge and intent to deceive, whether the false statement was material,
whether that statement induced another party to rely on it, and whether the reliance was to the
party’s detriment. As support for his argument, Dr, Welter cites Reisman v. KPMG Peat
Marwick LLP, 57 Mass. App. Ct. 100, 108, 787 N.E.2d. 1060, 1066 (2003); Von Schonau-
Riedweg v. Rothschild Bank AG, 95 Mass. App. Ct. 471, 497, 128 N.E.3d 96, 118 (2019); and
Bern Unlimited Inc. v. Burton Corp., 25 F.Supp.3d 170 (D. Mass. 2019).

The appropriate. standard for interpreting a regulation is to apply the clear meaning of the
regulation’s words unless doing so would lead to an illogical result. Massachusetts Fine Wine &
Spirits, LLC v. Alcoholic Beverages Control Commission, 482 Mass, 683, 687, 126 N.E.3d 970,
975 (2019). The case law cited by Dr. Welter is inapposite: these cases address claims of
common law fraud or claims brought under other statutes.” Dr. Welter has given no reason why I
should depart from the well-established rule of regulatory construction, nor has he provided any
support for his claim that additional elements, not present in the regulatory language, should be
imported into the regulation’s meaning. Accordingly, I analyze the language of New England
Hair’s website against the regulatory requirement that it not be false, deceptive or misleading.
243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.07(11)(a).

New England Hair’s website repeatedly used the terms doctors and surgeons throughout.

New England Hair had only one licensed doctor or surgeon on staff, Dr. Welter. The recurrent

2 Reisman (claims for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and violations of G.L. ¢. 93A); Von Schonau-Riedweg
{claims for common law fraud, violations of Massachusetts securities laws, and violations of G.L. ¢. 93A,); Bern
Unlimited Inc. (claims for violations of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §1125(a)).

35

1619



use of the plural — which would lead the reader to believe that there were multiple licensed
physicians at New England Hair when there was, in actuality, only one — was, at best,
misleading. Dr. Welter attempted to justify his decision to use the plural by testifying that it had
always been his intent to hire additional doctors, and his website language merely reflected his
future intent. I did not find his testimony on this point convincing. Although I do believe that
Dr. Welter had aspirations to build a larger business, he did not hire additional licensed
physicians to work at New England Hair for many years after he started the business and the
website went live, and there was no evidence that he attempted to do so.

The inappropriateness of using the plural was compounded by the presence of Clark
Tan’s name and biography on the website. It is possible that a website might not be misleading
if it referred to doctors and surgeons in the plural but listed only one individual who could
possibly fill that role. That was not the case here. New England Hair’s website set the stage for
rnultjple physicians by using the plural throughout, and then populated its cast with Dr. Welter
and Clark Tan. Tan was repeatedly referred to as Dr. Tan, and he and Dr. Welter were paired
together throughout the website as the doctors whom New England Hair employed. The website
placed “Dr. Tan” on the same level as Dr. Welter and implied that he was a licensed physician.
This was false and deceptive. Further, the website obscured the fact that Tan was trained only in
the Philippines and not in the United States. Although the description of Tan’s qualifications
may have been technically accurate, even a careful reader might conclude that the East Avenue
Medical Center, with its generic English name, is in the United States. Overseas training is not,
in itself objectionable: there are many foreign-trained physicians who are licensed to practice
medicine in Massachusetts. In Tan’s case, however, he had no medical training in the United

States, and because of this Tan was not ¢ligible to be licensed in Massachusetts. Concealing or
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obfuscating the fact that Tan lacked U.S. training prevented readers from understanding that the
reference to “doctors” and “surgeons” could not include Tan. The failure to make this disclosure,
coupled with the repeated references to Tan as a doctor in tandem with Dr. Welter, was deceptive
and misleading. |

The website’s misdirection was not limited to the number of physicians and the status of
Clark Tan. It also falsely implied that Dr. Welter was board-certified in surgery or plastic surgery
by stating that Dr. Welter was, as New England Hair’s founder and chief surgeon, “board
certified, trained and licensed to perform hair restoration procedures...” Dr. Welter is board
certified, but that certification is in family medicine; the website did not disclose this fact.
(Finding 9.) Dr. Welter attempted to justify the sentence by resorting to a grammatical
argument. He claimed that the use of a comma after the words board certified disconnected them
from the remaining sentence. Although each element of the sentence is true by itself — Dr.
Welter is board certified, he is trained in hair restoration procedures, and he does possess the
appropriate licensure to do those procedures — together the adjectives describing Dr. Welter
convey the message that Dr. Welter is board-certified in hair restoration techniques, either as a
surgeon ot as a plastic surgeon. This is false, misleading, and deceptive.

1 conclude that Dr. Welter violated 243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.07(11)(a) by publishing on
New England Hair’s website references to multiple doctors and surgeons, by misrepresenting the
role and qualifications of Clark Tan, and by misrepresenting Dr. Welter’s own qualifications to
imply that he was board-certified in an area that he was not. Upon learning that the Board
believed his website to be deceptive, Dr. Welter did remove all references to Clark Tan. He did

not change his own biography, but the record does not reveal whether, prior to the issuance of
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the Statement of Allegations, he knew that the Board had concluded that the reference to his
board certification was misleading.

II. Allegations of Engaging in Conduct Having the Capacity to Deceive or Defraud

The Board charges that Dr. Welter engaged in conduct at his medical practice that had the
capacity to deceive or defraud in violation of 243 Code Mass. Regs. § 1.03(5)(a)10. In the
Statement of Allegations, the Board states that Dr. Welter facilitated the impression that Tan was
a licensed physician, deceiving patients by permitting Tan to disseminate business cards
displaying the words Clark Tan, M.D. and using consent forms that referred to associate doctors
when there were no associate doctors and contained the statement that hair density measurements
were taken by a doctor. The Board further alleged that Patients A and B were misled by Tan’s
email signature as Clark Tan, M.D. and by Tan’s email statements that consultations were done
by a doctor.

The Board presented no evidence that Dr. Welter knew or approved of the content of
Tan’s email. On the other hand, the evidence is plain that Dr. Welter knew that Tan possessed
business cards imprinted with Clark Tan, M.D. and that Tan gave them to prospective patients.
Had Dr. Welter made clear to his patients that Tan was not practicing at New England Hair as a
physician but was instead employed as a non-professional assistant, the existence of these
business cards would be less troubling. Tan had gfaduated from medical school and had a
rightful claim to the degree of Medical Doctor. Unfortunately, rather than clarifying, Dr. Welter
further contributed to the misperception by publicly calling Tan “Dr. Tan” and allowing his staff
to do so as well. Dr. Welter also permitted consent forms to be used at New England Hair that
stated that hair density measurements were taken by a doctor (a task performed by Tan), and that

associate doctors might assist Dr. Welter in the procedures. Taken together, the practice of
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calling Tan “Dr. Tan,” the language in the consent forms, and Tan’s business cards all created
the false impression that Tan was a licensed physician.

Dr. Welter maintained at the hearing that there v;ras no deception because Tan was
actually a doctor. In so arguing, he persisted in his approach that statements should be analyzed
literally and without context. This is a facile argument. Patients A and B both concluded
erroneously that Tan was employed at New England Hair as a licensed physician. They reached
this conclusion based on information they found on the website and on the way in which Tan
was presented to them at the practice. As medical doctors, Patients A and B were more
sophisticated than the average patient in the types of providers that populate medical practices.
Nevertheless, they believed that Tan was an associate doctor of Dr. Welter’s who was licensed to
practice in Massachusetts.

I conclude, based on the evidence adduced concerning Tan’s business card, the consent
forms, and the conduct of the office staff, that Dr. Welter’s actions created a false and misleading
impression concerning Tan’s licensure status and that Dr. Welter was practicing medicine in a
fashion that had the capacity to deceive his patients in violation of 243 Code Mass. Regs.
§1.03(5)(a)10.

1. Allegations of Improper Delegation of Medical Services to Tan

The Board’s most serious allegation against Dr. Welter is that he improperly delegated
medical services to Tan in the treatment of patients A, B, and C, and that Dr. Welter permitted,
aided, and abetted Tan, as an unlicensed person, to perform activities that required a license to
practice medicine.

The hair restoration procedures for Patients A, B, and C took place in 2015, 2016, and

2017, respectively. Then, as now, the Board’s regulations defined the practice of medicine as

39

1623



including the action of an individual who presents himself to the public with the initials M.D.
connected with his name, and who also “assumes responsibility for another person’s physical or
mental wellbeing...” 243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.01(4). Then, but not now, the Board’s
regulations permitted a physician to delegate certain medical services to an unlicensed person.3
Prior to 2019, 243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.07(4) provided as follows:

Delegation of Medical Services: A full licensee may permit a skilled

professional or non-professional assistant to perform services in a

manner consistent with accepted medical standards and appropriate to

the assistant’s skill. The full licensee is responsible for the medical

services delegated to a skilled professional or non-professional assistant.

Nothing in 243 CMR 2.07(4) shall be construed as permitting an

unauthorized person to perform activities requiring a license to practice

medicine. A full licensee shall not knowingly permit, aid or abet the

unlawful practice of medicine by an unauthorized person pursuant to

M.G.L.c. 112, § 9A, M.G.L. c. 112, § 61 and 243 CMR 1.05(6).
The Board acknowledges that the above-quoted regulation, which was in effect when Patient A,
B, and C were treated by New England Hair, is controlling in this case and that the later-
amended regulation, set out in the footnote, does not apply. The question thus presented by Dr.
Welter’s and Tan’s relationship is whether Dr. Welter’s delegation of services to Tan with regard
to Patients A, B, and C was permissible under the delegation regulation or conversely whether
Tan impermissibly engaged in the practice of medicine.

Patient A

Patient A was seen by Dr. Welter for her initial consultation. He performed a physical

examination and documented it in her medical record. They discussed various treatment options,

* The Board amended the regulation in 2019 to forbid any delegation of medical services. The new, amended
regulation reads; “Delegation of Medical Services: There shall be no delegation of medical services to an individual
who is not licensed to perform those services in Massachusetts. Nothing in 243 CMR 2.07(4) shall be construed as
permitting an unauthorized person to perform activities requiring a license to practice medicine. A full licensee who
knowingly permits, aids or abets the unlawful practice of medicine by an unauthorized person is subject to discipline
pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 112, 5. 5, and 243 CMR 1.05(6).”
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including the medication options. At the time of her consultation, Patient A told Dr. Welter that
she was not interested in medication, and he told her that he would preauthorize a prescription
for her so that she could have the medication if she changed her mind. Patient A chose to
proceed with the PRP procedure.

The PRP procedure involved three components: a blood draw, spinning of that blood in a
centrifuge to separate out various components, and a series of injections just below the surface of
the skin to numb the area and to place the enriched plasma. Although Dr. Welter wés present in
the office when Patient A returned for her PRP procedure, Tan handled all of it, assisted by
physician assistant DesJardins Pennie. As a physician assistant, Pennie was qualified to supervise
injections and blood draws. The Board attempted to cast doubt on Pennie’s participation in the
procedure. Pennie testified that she could not have done the PRP blood draw because she has
never drawn blood. However, Pennie agreed that she did observe some PRP procedures and
although she did not remember Patient A, she conceded that her failure to remember Patient A
did not mean that she did not observe or assist in Patient A’s procedure. There is no evidence in
the record that Pennie’s encounter note reflecting that she was present at Patient A’s procedure
was improperly or fraudulently entered into Athena, and I credit the medical record over
Pennie’s memory. I also credit Patient A’s specific memory that Tan and a female health
provider performed her PRP procedure.

After the procedure, Patient A told Tan that she had changed her mind and wanted to try
finasteride, the medication that she aﬁd Dr. Welter had previously discussed at her consult in
March. Tan or other members of Dr. Welter’s staff let him know, and Dr. Welter authorized the

prescription through Athena.
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Several days after Patient A began taking the finasteride, she developed a rash. She did
not seek treatment at New England Hair but went instead to an urgent care clinic. She was
advised to stop taking the drug and her rash subsided. At some point thereafter, Patient A called
New England Hair to advise the practice that she had developed a rash and that she had stopped
taking finasteride. There is no record that she received any treatment or medical advice from
anyone at New England Hair about what may or may not have been a drug reaction.

Patient A returned for three follow-up visits with Tan during which they discussed the
results of her PRP procedure and the products she was using to support hair growth. There is nd
evidence in the record that Tan ever performed a physical examination on Patient A. At the
second follow-up appointment, Tan noted that Patient A “will try oral finasteride again.” At the
third appointment, Tan wrote that Patient A thought she had a reaction to the finasteride when
she was exposed to sunlight. There is no evidence in the record that Patient A received any
treatment or sought medical advice from anyone at New England Hair about what may or may
not have been a second reaction to finasteride. Dr. Welter reviewed all of Tan’s notes and signed
off on them.

The evidence in the record supports the conclusion that Dr. Welter, not Tan, medically
evaluated Patient A and authorized any prescriptions. Dr. Welter testified without rebuttal from
any witness or other evidence in the record that Tan possessed the training and skill to perform
Patient A’s PRP procedure. Dr. Welter’s testimony was based on his years of experience
observing Tan assisting and conducting PRP procedures, and Dr. Welter’s testimony was
credible on this point. The Board produced no evidence that drawing blood, spinning blood, and
giving injections requires a license to practice medicine; to the contrary, the testimony from the

medical witnesses indicated that these tasks are routinely delegated to medical assistants.
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Additionally, the presence of DesJardins Pennie during this procedure places a physician
assistant, qualified to supervise blood draws and injections, in the room. Finally, the Board made
much in its post-hearing brief of Tan’s note from the second follow-up appointment that Patient
A would try finasteride again, The Board argued that this note established that Tan had strayed
into practicing medicine by counseling Patient A with regard to medications. This one sentence
fragment is too slender a thread to support this allegation. The Board has no evidence that Tan
was éfﬁrmatively advising Patient A to take certain medications. Patient A did not testify that
Tan did so, and the medical record does not establish this. Even if Tan did suggest that Patient A
might again try finasteride, the Board has produced no evidence that he did so without the
supervision of Dr. Welter.

The Board has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Welter
improperly delegated medical services to Tan in the care of Patient A and that he allowed Tan to
assume responsibility for Patient A’s physical wellbeing. It has not done so.

Patient B

Patient B’s experience at New England Hair was in some ways the reverse of Patient A’s.
Patient B’s consult took place with Tan, not Dr. Welter, but his procedure was done by both Dr.
Welter and Tan.

Dr. Welter testified without contradiction that hair loss in male patients differs from hair
loss in female patients and, consequently, a physical examination to rule out medical reasons for
hair loss is necessary for females but usually unnecessary for males. Patient B’s consult with Tan
did not involve a physical examination. Tan reviewed Patient’s B’s concerns about his beard and
verified that the sparseness that Patient B disliked was not of recent vintage but had always been

present. Dr. Welter testified that understanding the history of a male patient’s complaint allowed
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him to judge whether medical follow-up was necessary. In Patient B’s case, Tan’s note that the
problem had persisted throughout Patient B’s adult life indicated to Dr. Welter that an underlying
medical problem did not exist.

During the consult, Tan reviewed the treatment options that New England Hair could
provide to Patient B, assessed the density of Patient B’s beard and hair, took pictures, and did
some preliminary calculations to arrive at a cost estimate. Dr, Welter and medical assistant Jenny
Moore both testified that these sorts of consultations are handled in éther hair restoration
practices by salespeople who have no formal medical training. The Board produced no evidence
to the contrary.

When Patient B returned for his procedure, Tan reviewed the consent form with Patient B
first, and Dr. Welter reviewed the procedure again with Patient B while Dr. Welter’s assistant
.shaved the donor areas on Patient B’s head. Dr. Welter also briefly assessed Patient B’s physical
health prior to the start of the procedure. Over the next ten hours, Dr. Welter and Tan worked
together, assisted by a medical assistant Brock, to perform Patient B’s procedure. Patient B’s
lack of familiarity with the various ta;sks required during his FUE procedure led him to conclude,
erroneously, that Dr. Welter was involved in his procedure only during the time that Dr. Welter
was physically present in the toom. However, the weight of the evidence is that Dr. Welter
divided his time dﬁring the ten-hour procedure between being present in the room with Patient B
and splitting and preparing hair follicles in a nearby procedure room.

Dr. Welter testified without rebuttal from any witness or other evideﬁce in the record that
Tan possessed the training and skill to petform the extractions and implantations during Patient
B’s procedure. Dr. Welter’s testimony was based on his experience observing Tan assisting and

conducting these procedures, and Dr. Welter’s testimony was credible on this point. Dr. Welter
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also testified, as did medical assistant Jenny Moore, that hair extraction and re-implantations in
Massachusetts are tasks typically performed by medical assistants.

The Board produced no evidence that Tan’s work during Patient B’s consult required a
license to practice medicine, and the testimony from other wimesses established that these
consults are frequently performed by non-medical salespeople in other hair restoration practices.
Additionally, the Board produced no evidence that the activities performed by Tan during Patient
B’s FUE procedure require a license to practice medicine; to the contrary, the testimony from the
medical witnesses indicated that these tasks are routinely performed by medical assistants.
Finally, Dr. Welter was involved with the entirety of Patient B’s FUE procedure and available to
provide whatever supervision may have been needed.

The Board had the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Welter
improperly delegated medical services to Tan in the care of Patient B and that Tan assumed
responsibility for Patient B’s physical wellbeiﬁg. It has not done so.

Patient C

Patient C first consulted Dr. Welter regarding hair loss concerns in October 2017,
Following that consult and a consultation with plastic surgeon Dr. Kohli at Regeneris Medical,
Patient C decided to undergo two hair treatment procedures (PRP and SVF) and one body
contouring procedure (Vaser Liposuction) on the same day at New England Hair’s offices.

From the statement of allegations and the testimony of its witness Susan Dye, it is
apparent that the Board believed that the SVF procedure and the Vaser Liposuction procedure
were one and the same. The Board alleged that Dr. Welter told Patient C that he and his staff
were highly experienced in performing SVE, Dr. Welter replied in his answer, and affirmed in

his testimony, that he and his staff were, in fact, highly experienced in that procedure. There is
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no evidence to the contrary in the record. Dr. Welter explained that although he had some
experience with Vaser Liposuction, it was a technique that he was acquiring expertise in, and for
that reason he hired Dr. Kohli to offer this service.

The Board also alleged that Tan injected stem cells that had been harvested via
liposuction into Patient C’s scalp. Dr. Welter denied this allegation.

The Board did not present Patient C as a witness and offered Susan Dye’s testimony of
what Patient C had told her about his procedures at New England Hair during her one telephone
interview with him. I allowed Inspector Dye to testify to those portions of her conversation with
Patient C that were corroborated by Patient C’s medical record, but not to any other portions of
the conversation that were offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Although hearsay evidence
can be admissible in adjudicatory proceedings, the Board here attempted to use one witness to
establish facts asserted by another witness whose credibility or recall could not be challenged.
The facts that the Board sought to establish through Dye’s testimony were central to its
allegations against Dr. Welter regarding the care of Patient C. Dye’s testimony about what
Patient C said in a telephone interview, unverified and not subject to any kind of credibility
testing, is not the sort of evidence on which reasonable people would rely in the conduct of
serious affairs. G.L. c. 30A, § 11. Accordingly, this testimony was excluded from evidence.

Inspector Dye was confused about what sort of hair procedures Patient C had undergone.
She testified that she did not have any familiarity with PRP or SVF, and at one point stated that
she believed that Patient C had undergone some kind of a hair transplant. She later conceded that
the procedures that Patient C’s medical record reflected — PRP and SVF — and which she had

heard described at the hearing, did not involve transplanting any hair. I did not find Inspector
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Dye’s testimony to be probative on the question of what Patient C experienced at New England
Hair.

Additionally, Patient C’s credibility appears doubtful, given his refusal to come to the
Board’s offices for an interview, his refusal to testify at this proceeding, his ability to access
confidential malpractice insurance information which should have been kept from him, and the
threats he made to Dr. Welter about malpractice actions and media exposure. There is nothing in
the record to substantiate Patient C’s text message that an investigation was pending at a local
police department and at the Attorney General’s office, and Inspector Dye testified that she had
no knowledge of any such inquiry. Statements that Patient C made to Inspector Dye in their brief
interview were contradicted by the medical records; the Board should have taken notice of these
inconsistencies and should have proceeded with ﬁ01'e caution. I am troubled by the Board’s
reliance on this witness and the Board’s attempt to introduce his unsworn and unreliable
narrative through Investigator Dye.

Patient C’s medical record reflects that he did undergo three procedures at New England
Hair. The SVF and Vaser contouring were done by Dr, Welter and Dr. Kohli, and the PRP was
done by Dr. Welter, assisted by Devin Fortier. The medical record lists Tan along with two other
individuals as assistants in the Vaser and SVF procedure, but Dr. Welter credibly testified that
Tan’s role was limited to setting up the room. There was no evidence to the contrary other than
Patient C’s unsworn and unsubstantiated statement which I do not credit. Patient C’s medical
record for the PRP procedure lists Dr. Welter and Devin Fortier as the surgical team. There is no
mention of Tan. Dr. Welter testified that Tan scribed this procedure, but did not participate in it.

Again, I found Dr. Welter credible on this point, and there was no evidence to the contrary.
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It was the Board’s burden to establish that Dr. Welter improperly delegated medical
services t0 Tan. The Board did not establish that Tan provided any medical services to Patient
C. Accordingly, the Board has not carried its burden of proving that Dr. Welter improperly
delegated medical services to Tan in the care of Patient C or that Tan assumed responsibility for
Patient C’s physical well-being.

IV. Allegations of False Statements in Medical Records

The Board’s regulations provide, at 243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.07(13)(a), that a licensed
physician shall “maintain a medical record for each patient that is complete, timely, legible, and
adequate to enable the licensee or any other health care provider to provide proper diagnosis and
treatment.” In the Statement of Allegations, the Board identified two medical record entries for
New England Hair’s records that it viewed as false and failing to meet this standard. In Patient
A’s medical record, Dr. Welter is identified as the surgeon for Patient A’s PRP procedure and
Tan as the “first assist,” and in Patient B’s medical record, Dr. Welter is identified as the surgeon
for Patient B’s FUE procedure and Tan as an assistant. During the hearing, the Board took issue
with the fact that some of the notes in Patient A’s and Patient B’s medical records were undated
and unsigned. After the hearing, the Board in its post-hearing brief also challenged Dr. Welter’s
signature on Patient A’s and Patient B’s consent forms. Regarding Patient A’s consent form, the
Board argued that Dr. Welter should not have signed the form on the day of Patient A’s
procedure because he did not review the form with her on that date. Regarding Patient B’s
consent form, the Board challenged Dr. Welter’s testimony that he had reviewed the form at all
with Patient B.

There is no dispute that Patient A’s medical records do identify Dr. Welter as the surgeon

for the PRP procedure, and there is further no dispute that Dr. Welter did not participate in any
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significant way in that procedure. Dr. Welter testified that he signed the record as the surgeon
who was responsible for supervising Tan’s work. The Board offered no evidence that this
practice violated accepted medical practice or record-keeping standards.

There is also no dispute that Patient B’s medical records identify Dr. Welter as the
surgeon for the FUE procedure, and that Tan and Brock are identified as assistants. Dr. Welter,
Tan, and Brock all participated in Patient B’s procedure. The Board offered no evidence that
these notations were inaccurate or violated accepted medical practice or record-keeping
standards.

The medical records of Patients A and B each contain some entries that are undated and
unsigned. The Board offered no evidence that this practice violated accepted medical practice or
record-keeping standards.

Dr. Welter admits that he signed the consent form for Patient A on the date of her
procedure. The evidence established that he reviewed the form and the procedure with her three
months prior at her consultation. Dr. Welter’s signature on the consent form attested to the fact
that he had explained and reviewed its relevant information to Patient A. The Board offered no
evidence that Dr. Welter’s signing this form, three months after he had explained and reviewed
its contents with Patient A, violated accepted medical practice or record-keeping standards.

I have found that Dr. Welter reviewed the consent form with Patient B on the date of his
procedure. Dr. Welter’s signing it on that date is thus unremarkable.

The Board has not carried its burden of proving that Dr. Welter created false records or
that Patient A and Patient B’s medical records were not maintained in accordance with 243 Code

Mass. Regs. § 2.07(13)(a).
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V. Allegations of Fraud in Dr. Welter’s Renewal of Medical Licenses

Lastly, the Board charges that Dr, Welter committed fraud in his license renewal
applications. It was the Board’s burden to prove not only that Dr. Welter submitted incorrect
information, but that in so doing he acted with intent to defraud. The Board charges that Dr.
Welter committed fraud in three areas: failure to disclose all of his work locations, failure to
disclose a pending Board investigation, and failure to reveal that he was performing office-based
surgery.

There is no factual dispute that Dr. Welter failed to disclose all of his work locations,
listing only his original office at the Morton Hospital Medical Center on his 2013, 2015, and
2017 renewal applications. Dr. Welter also conceded that he failed to disclose, on his 2017
renewal application, the investigation that is the subject of this appeal.

With regard to the Board’s claim that Dr. Welter should have stated that he was
performing office-based surgery on his 2015 and 2017 renewal applications, Dr. Welter testified
that he did not believe that FUE fell within the definition of surgery. The Board offered no
expert testimony to the contrary. Although the Board placed in evidence MMS’s guidelines that
contain its definition of surgery, the Board did not provide this forum with an expert competent
to interpret those guidelines and counter Dr. Welter’s testimony. Accordingly, the Board did not
prove that Dr, Welter’s negative answer to the question about office-based surgery was false.

The Board argues that the fact that Dr. Welter made errors in submitting his application is
enough to establish that Dr. Welter acted with intent to defraud, citing Fisch v. Board of
Registration in Medicine, 437 Mass. 128, 139, 769 N.E.2d 1221, 1230 (2002) (“[f]raudulent
intent may be shown by proof that a party knowingly made a false statement and that the subject

of that statement was susceptible of actual knowledge...No further proof of actual intent to
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deceive is required.”). But while fraudulent intent may be shown by evidence of a false
statement, it does not follow that proof of a false statement necessitates a conclusion of
fraudulent intent.

Here, the weight of the evidence is that Dr. Welter did not intend to deceive the Board
regarding his work locations or the existence of a pending investigation. With regard to work
Jocations, Dr. Welter testified that he thought that the question was asking him for his hospital
affiliations because only hospitals appear in the drop-down menu. It is true that the separate
application instructions state that a physician is to list all of his work locations, but the question
on the face of the application does not make this clear. Dr. Welter’s testimony on this point is
bolstered by the evidence that he listed his primary work location as his business address on his
renewal applications, and that he corresponded with the Board to offer his services as a
workplace monitor in a probation agreement at his North Attleboro office. Had he been
attempting to hide his work locations from the Board, he would not have engaged in this
behavior. With regard to his failure to answer affirmatively the question about investigations, it
is illogical to conclude that Dr. Welter was trying to deceive the Board about the existence of an
investigation that he knew the Board was conducting. It is more probable than not that Dr.
Welter’s explanation reflects the truth, that he simply made a mistake and did not catch it when
he reviewed his document.

The Board has not met its burden of proving that Dr. Welter committed fraud in his

license renewal applications for 2013, 2015, and 2017.
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Conclusion

The Board carried its burden of proof that Dr. Welter engaged in false, misleading, and
deceptive advertising on his website for New England Hair from 2015 to 2017 in violation of
243 Code Mass. Regs. § 2.07(11)(a).

The Board carried its burden of proof that Dr. Welter was practicing medicine in a
fashion that had the capacity to deceive his patients by creating a false and misleading
impression concerning Tan’s licensure status from 2015 to 2017 in violation of 243 Code Mass.
Regs. § 1.03(5)(a)10.

The Board has not carried its burden of proving that Dr. Welter improperly delegated
medical services to Tan or aided and abetted Tan in the unlicensed practice of medicine in the
care of Patients A, B, or C.

The Board has not carried its burden of proving that Dr. Welter maintained improper
medical records for Patients A or B.

The Board has not carried its burden of proving that Dr. Welter engaged in fraud when he
renewed his medical license in Massachusetts in 2013, 2015, or 2017.

Mitigating Factors

The following factors may mitigate against sanctions the Board may seek to impose on
Dr. Welter for his false advertising and the misleading conduct of his practice:
1. When the Board’s concerns became known to Dr. Welter regarding New England
Hair’s website and before the Statement of Allegations issued, Dr. Welter changed
the website to delete all references to Tan and changed all the plural descriptors of

doctors and surgeons to single descriptors.
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

Middlesex, 88 Board of Registration in Medicine
Adjudicatory No. 2019-029

(RM-19-0282)

Partial Final Decision and Order
as to Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law Only

In the Matter of

Ryan J. Wclter, M.D.

This matter came before the Board, on the basis of the Administrative Magistrate's
(Magistrate’s) Recommended Decision, dated October 20, 2020, and the Parties’ Objections to
the Recommended Decision. The Board has considered the Objections in making its dccision and
detcrmined that the Parties’ objcctions reiterated arguments fully and adequately addressed in the

Recommended Decision.

The Board hereby adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. After the Board
hears from the Parties on the issue of sanction and considers any Victim Impact Statement, it will

issue a completc I'inal Decision and Order, including any sanction and notification requirements,

ool

Dated: January 28, 2021
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
BOARD QF REGISTRATION IN MEDICINE

MIDDLESEX, ss Adjudicatory Case No. 2019-029
' {(RM-19-0282)
)
In the Matter of ) _
) FINAL DECISION AND ORDER
Ryan J. Welter, M.D. )
)

This matier came before the Board for disposition on the basis of the Board of Registration -
in Medicine’s January 28, 2021 Partial Final Decision and Order as to Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law Only (Partial Decision), incorporating thc Administrative Magistrate’s
October 20, 2020 Recommended Decision. After full consideration of the Partial Decision, which
is attached hereto and incorporated by reference, the Parties’ Mcmoranda on Disposition, and any
Victim Impact Statement, the Board adds the [ollowing:

Sanction

As a function of this Board’s obligation to protect the public health, safety, and welfare, it
is proper for the Board to disciplinc the Respondent. See Levy v. Board of Registration in Medicine,
378 Mass. 519 (1979).

The record reflects that the Respondent, who is board-certified in family medicine,
included false and deceptive statements on the website for his hair restoration practice, with respect
to his training and with respect to the tramning and licensure of a physician-employee, not licensed
in the United States. The record reflects, too, that the Respondent engaged in conduct having the
capacily to deceive or delraud by the nomenclature used by stalf to refer to the unlicensced
physician, by the content of the business cards the Respondent allowed the unlicensed physician
to disseminate, and in the wording used on the Respondent’s consent forms.

When a physician uscs false and deceptive statements with respect to his training and that
of his employee, the pbysician deprives those seeking medical care of the opportunity to make
informed choices as consumers. When a physician makes a false and dcceptive statement on a

consent form, a patient is barred from obtaining informed consent.
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There is a range of discipline the Board has imposed in cascs wherc physicians have
misstated their credentials. At once end of the spectrum, the Board has imposed ccnsure as a
sanction. See /n the Matter of Gloria Johnson-Powell, M. D., Board of Registration in Medicine,
Adjudicatory Case No. 99-05-XX (Consent Order, March 3, 1999)(The physician testified, in
multiple court proceedings, that she was board-certified when she was not. The Board identified
mitigating factors: i. the lack of evidence that thc physician misreprescnied her credentials to the
Board or any medical facility; and ii. the physician’s entry into a voluntary agreement with the
American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology pledging ncver to represent herself as board-
certified.)

At the other end of the spectrum, the Board has imposed an indefinite suspension and
$10,000 fine, and requircd community scrvice as the sanction and allowed the physician to petition
to end the suspension upon paymeni of the fine, amendment of answers, and- completion of -
community service. See In the Matter of Michael G. Ciborski, M.D., Board of Registration in
Medicine, Adjudicatory Case No. 99-18-XX (Consent Order, August 25, 1999)(The physician: 1)
falsely indicated on five license renewal -applications, a health carc facility rcappointment
application, and a health carc provider insurance network application that he was ccriified by the
American Board of Surgery; and i1) forged a board-certification certificate.)

In the middic of the spectrum are cases in which the Board has imposed a reprimand and
fine. See /n the Matter of Tushar C. Patel, M.D., Board of Registration in Medicine, Adjudicatory
Case No. 2008-042 (Consent Order, November 19, 2008)(The Board imposed a reprimand and
$2,500 fine for misrepresenting board certifications on multiple renewal applications. The Board
determined that the physician had undermined the integrity of the medical profession.).

In a recent case where the Board imposed reciprocal diseipline on a physician  who
disseminated information that had the potential to mislead consumers about the credentials of their
provider, the Board fined the physician $10,000 and imposed an indcfinite suspension of his
medical license with the suspension staycd upon his entry into a Probation Agreement with
monitoring of his license applications and advertising by a Board-approved entity. The Board also
required that the physician provide documentation of his completion of CPEP’s
Professional/Problem Based Ethics (PROBE) course. In that case, the physician misrepresented Lo
a health care facility the circumstanees surrounding the end of his residency program; incorrcctly

informed a health maintenance organization that he was board-certified in a specialty when he was
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not: and inaccurately claimed in an adveriiscment that he had received fellowship training board-
certification in areas where he had not. Sec In the Matter of Boris Bergus, M.D., Board of
Registration in Medicine, Adjudicatory Case No. 2017-004 (Final Decision and Order, June 27,
2019).

In the pending casc, the Board acknowledges, as mitigating circumstances, that the
Respondent: i) took measures to remediate his website and conduct, with respect to the unlicensed
physician employee, prior to the Board’s issuing the Statement ol Allegations commencing this
matter; and ii) entered a Voluntary Agreement Not to Practlice in May of 2019,

The Board hercby terminates the Respondent’s Voluntary Agreement Not to Practice and
INDEFINITELY SUSPENDS the Respondent’s license to practice medicine. The Board
immediately stays the indefinite suspension of the Respondent’s license upon his entering into a
Board Probation Agreement that also requires the Respondent to arrange for, and pay the costs
associated with, monitoring of his credentialing applications, advertising, and media
communications under his control by a Board-approved entity, such as Affiliated Monitors, Inc.
The Probation Agreement shall allow the Respondent to petition for termination after two years of
documented monitoring. The sanction is imposed for each violation of the law, and not a
combination of any or all of them.

The Respondent shall provide a complete copy of this Final Decision and Order with all
exhibits and attachments, within ten (10) days by certificd mail, retumn receipt requested, or by
hand delivery to the following designated entities: any in- or out-of-state hospital, nursing home,
clinic, other licensed lacility, or municipal, state, or federal facility at which he practices medicing;
any in- or out-of-state health maintenance organization with whom he has privileges or any other
kind of association; any state agency, in- or out-o[-state, with which he has a provider contract;
any in- or gut-of-state medical employer, whether or not he practices medicine there; and the state
licensing boards of all states in which he has any kind of license. The Respondent shall also
provide this notification to any such designated entities with which he becomes associated during
the period of his suspension and probation. The Respondent is further direcied to certify to the
Board within ten (10) days that he has complied with this directive.

The Board expressly reserves the authority to independently notify, at any time, any of the

entities designated above, or any other affected entity, of any action it has taken. The Respondent
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has the right {0 appeal this Final Decision and Order within (30) days, pursuant to G.L. ¢. 30A,

§§14 and 15, and G.L. ¢.112, §64.
Hlnln
Date: March 11, 2021 /

George Abraham, M.D.
Board Chair
Board of Registration in Medicing
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE PURSUANT TO MASS. R. APP. P. 16 (k)

I, Alycia M. Kennedy, hereby certify that the
foregoing brief complies with the rules of court that pertain
to the filing of Dbriefs, including, Dbut not limited to:
Mass. R. App. P. 16 (a) (13) (addendum); Mass. R. App. P. 16 (e)
(references to the record); Mass. R. App. P. 20 (form and
length of Dbriefs, appendices, and other documents); and
Mass. R. App. P. 21 (redaction). I further certify that
the foregoing brief complies with the applicable length
limitation in Mass. R. App. P. 20 because it is produced in the
monospaced font Courier New at size 12 point and contains 34
non-excluded pages.

/s/ Alycia M. Kennedy
Alycia M. Kennedy

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Alycia M. Kennedy, certify that on this 3rd day of May,
2022, a true copy of the foregoing was filed via the electronic
filing system and copies will be sent via electronic mail to all
counsel of record.

/s/ Alycia M. Kennedy
Alycia M. Kennedy
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